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         1       <JAMES MacGREGOR COOPER, on former oath:  [10.05am]

         2

         3       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   You're on your former oath, Mr Cooper.

         6

         7       THE WITNESS:   Yes.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Cooper, can I take you back to

        10       September of 2004.

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Your electronic diary records an entry for 8 September

        14       2004.  That's the first time the words "Project Water"

        15       appear in your diary, and it records "Project Water -

        16       review of docs with Jim, BDW", and it says, "Chair:

        17       Cooper".  Was Jim a lawyer at Blake Dawson Waldron?

        18       A.   No, that's a reference to me that would have been made

        19       by my secretary in my electronic diary for a meeting

        20       between me and Chris Quennell, from Blakes.

        21

        22       Q.   That is the first time we see the words "Project

        23       Water".  Is that about the time at which you began your

        24       investigation?

        25       A.   As I said yesterday, the investigation started on

        26       12 August 2004, when I instructed Chris Quennell and his

        27       firm to undertake a review of all of the Tigris matters,

        28       and this was his first report back to me on his findings to

        29       date.

        30

        31       Q.   Project Rose had been running for a very long time by

        32       this time.  In the course of Project Rose had you come

        33       across the Tigris matter?

        34       A.   I can't recall specifically coming across it, but I

        35       agree with you, it did overlap, but, no, I can't - in the

        36       Project Rose matter Chris Quennell was also involved.  He

        37       was conducting all of the inquiries into the information in

        38       that particular matter.  As to whether he had come across

        39       it, he may have, but I can't specifically recall now

        40       whether anything came up.

        41

        42       Q.   On 9 September 2004 we have an email which is subject

        43       to a claim for legal professional privilege in part, so I

        44       can't project it, but we will prepare an edited copy of it.

        45       The email records a message from you to Sarah Scales,

        46       copied to Michael Long and Peter Geary.  It's dated

        47       Thursday, 9 September 2004 at 6.43pm.  In relation to that
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         1       portion for which there's no claim for legal professional

         2       privilege we see that you've written this:

         3

         4            Subject:  re Tigris.

         5            Sarah, have finished factual review,

         6            briefing Andrew Lindberg on that tomorrow.

         7

         8       We see in your electronic diary an entry for 10 September

         9       2004, "Project Water, review with AL".  Did you have that

        10       review with Mr Lindberg on 10 September 2004?

        11       A.   Yes, I did.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you give him a report on the state of the

        14       investigation Project Water up until that time?

        15       A.   Yes, I did.

        16

        17       Q.   I just want to go over with you some of the facts as

        18       you knew them at that time and see if you were aware of

        19       these matters.  May we take it that you were aware that AWB

        20       had assisted Tigris in recouping the debt from the IGB?

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, we make a claim for legal

        23       professional privilege insofar as the source of knowledge

        24       is derived from advice or consultation with Mr Quennell.

        25       So perhaps that question can be preceded by an attempt to

        26       ascertain where the source of the information about which

        27       Mr Cooper is being asked came from.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Well, Mr Cooper, you understand the

        30       inquiry is not privy to your sources of information.

        31       A.   Mmm.

        32

        33       Q.   We understand, from what you say, that you retained

        34       Mr Quennell to conduct this investigation into the Tigris

        35       matter.  Aside from retaining Mr Quennell, I take it you

        36       saw documents from time to time, did you?

        37       A.   The briefing meeting that I had that you referred to

        38       before, in my diary, with Chris Quennell, he came in and

        39       briefed me on his findings at that time, and I do recall

        40       that he brought summary documents in - I presume that's all

        41       right.

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   I have no difficulty with the witness describing

        44       what Mr Quennell brought with him.  It's disclosing the

        45       content of the communication that will create a problem.

        46       If, for example, the witness saw documents - AWB documents,

        47       such as emails, and the like, that Mr Quennell had
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         1       employeed as part of his examination, the witness can look

         2       at them and give evidence as to what they say.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   We don't know what they are.  We can't

         5       know what they are because we're not allowed to find out

         6       what Mr Quennell told him.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   Therein lies a difficulty.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   How can he be asked about those?

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   He can only be asked about those if he saw those

        13       outside that privileged occasion.  For example, if he made

        14       his own inquiries, looked at documents himself, and that

        15       was not for a privileged purpose, then he can give some

        16       evidence of it.  But it makes it very difficult, we

        17       concede, for him to give evidence where the investigation

        18       is shrouded in privilege and he has, it seems, delegated

        19       that to Mr Quennell.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Just so I'm clear about your position,

        22       if Mr Quennell showed him, for instance, 10 emails that he

        23       had discovered, being AWB material, this witness could not

        24       give evidence about that circumstance.  He could give

        25       evidence that he'd been shown by Mr Quennell, but he

        26       couldn't give any evidence about any view he formed based

        27       on being so shown.  But if he went the next day and found

        28       those emails himself and read them, he could give evidence

        29       about them; is that the position?

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   Only if for some reason he were informing

        32       himself for a reason other than the purpose of the inquiry.

        33       The possibility of that is quite remote, so that if

        34       Mr Quennell were to bring him a document and say, "Now,

        35       Mr Cooper, I've found this document and this is my

        36       conclusion," and Mr Cooper were to go and look at it

        37       independently, he's looking at it for a purpose which is a

        38       privileged purpose and therefore the privilege would

        39       prevent him from giving evidence of his investigation into

        40       that.

        41

        42            Of course the document itself is one that may be

        43       produced here, very likely to be produced here.  But what

        44       we're concerned about is the product of the privileged

        45       investigation that has been undertaken by Mr Quennell.  It

        46       will be shrouded in privilege because of Mr Quennell's

        47       opinions, the work he's undertaken, the presentation of
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         1       that work to Mr Cooper, and the like.  But the document

         2       itself, being one that most likely is produced to this

         3       Commission, is a document to which no privilege attaches.

         4       It can't be.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   If Mr Quennell produced to him a

         7       document which was an AWB document and expressed a view or

         8       a conclusion, this witness could not give evidence about

         9       that conclusion.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   Correct.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   If that evening he went back and had a

        14       look at the same document and formed his own view, can he

        15       give evidence about that?

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   He can give evidence of his having seen the

        18       document and what the document contained.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   And his view about it.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   So long as he's not disclosing advice or

        23       consultation, he can give evidence of his view about it.

        24       That is his view.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's what I thought Mr Agius had

        27       asked.

        28

        29       MR JUDD:   The ambiguity, sir, was in relation to the

        30       subject matter of the information.  If we're talking about

        31       a document which is an AWB document, for example, before

        32       him, he can give his evidence, his view, about the content

        33       of the document.  What he can't do is disclose what

        34       Mr Quennell said was his view about the document.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Quite.  The question that Mr Agius

        37       asked, as I recall it - I don't have it in front of me -

        38       related to what his state of knowledge of certain facts

        39       was.

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   Yes, and I rose to draw a distinction between

        42       his state of knowledge derived from information and advice

        43       given by Mr Quennell and that which was derived from his

        44       own inspection, if there was such an occasion, of

        45       documents.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will put the witness in an almost
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         1       impossible situation, but he'll have to cope with that.

         2       That's the situation that's brought about because of the

         3       claim for privilege.

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   It does place the witness in a difficult

         6       position.  We don't resile from that.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Almost impossible, I would have

         9       thought.  However, there's nothing I can do about that.

        10       He'll have to cope with that.

        11

        12       Q.   You understand the position, Mr Cooper?

        13       A.   Yes, I do, Commissioner.

        14

        15       Q.   If you formed your own view about facts, you can tell

        16       me about it.  If you formed a view about facts based on the

        17       outcome of the inquiry with Mr Quennell, you can't.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are you happy with that dichotomy,

        20       Mr Judd?

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   "Happy" is putting it too highly, but we're

        23       content with that.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   I'm not sure that I am, Mr Commissioner, but

        26       I'll press on as best I can.

        27

        28       Q.   Please understand, Mr Cooper, I'm not in any way

        29       attempting to go behind the claim for legal professional

        30       privilege.  If you have any doubt about it, raise it.

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   We had reached the stage where I'd asked you:

        34

        35            We understand from what you say that you

        36            retained Mr Quennell to conduct this

        37            investigation into the Tigris matter.

        38            Aside from retaining Mr Quennell, I take it

        39            you saw documents from time to time, did

        40            you?

        41

        42       Your answer was:

        43

        44            The briefing meeting that I had that you

        45            referred to before, in my diary, with Chris

        46            Quennell, he came in and briefed me on his

        47            findings at that time and I do recall that
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         1            he brought summary documents in.  I presume

         2            that's all right.

         3

         4       That's when you deferred to Mr Judd.  Let me take it up

         5       from there.  You saw AWB documents, though, didn't you?

         6       A.   Yes, I did.  They were - oh, I think I did.  What was

         7       actually given was a chronology of what Blake Dawson

         8       Waldron had found until that date through their inquiries,

         9       and they had taken from 12 August until this date, whenever

        10       the meeting was, in early September.  They had prepared a

        11       chronology and preliminary views on the documents.  They

        12       also said the documents, however, were not - they didn't

        13       appear to be complete, they were quite patchy --

        14

        15       Q.   I don't want you to tell me what they said to you,

        16       because that's subject to the claim, you see.

        17       A.   Yes, I realise that.

        18

        19       Q.   What communications passed between you and Mr Quennell

        20       you're not permitted to divulge.  I'm really only asking

        21       you about documents, Mr Cooper.  You saw documents that had

        22       obviously been generated by Blake Dawson Waldron?

        23       A.   Yes, I did.

        24

        25       Q.   Let's put those aside.

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   You saw AWB documents?

        29       A.   I don't recall now whether I saw them at that meeting,

        30       but I did subsequently receive a full chronology with

        31       attachments that was presented by Blake Dawson Waldron.

        32

        33       Q.   And the attachments included AWB documents?

        34       A.   Yes, they did.

        35

        36       Q.   One such AWB document is in the compilation of

        37       annexures to your supplementary statement.  Do you have a

        38       volume of annexures?

        39       A.   Yes, I do.

        40

        41       Q.   Would you go to guide card 6.  We have this document

        42       in your annexure.  I'll bring up the version of your

        43       annexure, JMC.0001.0052.  You have a copy in your folder,

        44       do you not, Mr Cooper?

        45       A.   Under tab 6?  Could you just describe the person and

        46       the date so I can identify it?

        47



            .23/2/06 (33)              3222     J M COOPER (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       Q.   It's from Nigel Edmonds-Wilson to Messrs Werner and

         2       Lister.

         3       A.   And is that 12 December 2002 at 4.49 --

         4

         5       Q.   Yes, 12 December 2002 at 4.49.

         6       A.   Yes, I appear to have that one.

         7

         8       Q.   Do you have a second document behind that which is

         9       dated 13 December 2002 at 9.33am, from Edmonds-Wilson to

        10       Ms Scales and others?

        11       A.   Yes, I do.

        12

        13       Q.   The difference between the two documents would appear

        14       to be that in the first one, which is dated 12 December

        15       2002, JMC.0001.0052, there is absent the heading "NB This

        16       has been sent to a reduced list due to the nature of the

        17       Tigris Petroleum issue.  Please treat as private and

        18       confidential and not for further distribution."   Would you

        19       agree with that?

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   We'll just have it given to the monitor

        22       to display on the screen.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Might I inquire as to which document that is?

        25       Is that 0052?

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Could we also give the monitor 0054.

        30

        31       Q.   Do you see there is absent the heading that I just

        32       read to you?

        33       A.   Yes, I do.

        34

        35       Q.   And that heading does appear on 0054.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   That is 0054 on the screen now.

        38

        39       THE WITNESS:   Yes.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Is your set of documents barcoded,

        42       Mr Cooper?

        43       A.   No, it's not.  But I do recognise the documents on the

        44       screen.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   0052 is now on the screen.  It's dated

        47       12 December and it does not have the heading that Mr Agius



            .23/2/06 (33)              3223     J M COOPER (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       read.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The document without the heading - that

         4       is, the email without the heading - is dated 12 December

         5       2002 at 4.49, and it's directed only to David Werner and

         6       Rex Lister.  Where did Mr Werner work at that time, can you

         7       recall?

         8       A.   I have no direct knowledge of where he worked, but I

         9       do know now he works in the contracts management area of

        10       the company.

        11

        12       Q.   The email with the heading that I read is dated

        13       13 December 2002 at 9.33am, and it's directed to a much

        14       larger group of people; do you agree with that?

        15       A.   Yes, I agree with that.

        16

        17       Q.   And we have that 0054 document as confidential

        18       exhibit 82, AWB.0147.0092.  When did you first see either

        19       of those documents?

        20       A.   Just recently in preparing for this hearing.

        21

        22       Q.   You did not see them as part of Mr Quennell's review?

        23       A.   No, I did not.

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, he can't disclose by --

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   All right.  I withdraw that question.

        28

        29       Q.   Were you aware as at September 2004 that the Tigris

        30       debt had been factored into contracts for the sale of wheat

        31       to Iraq?

        32       A.   Well, I have to answer that by reference to my

        33       briefing from Chris Quennell that --

        34

        35       Q.   Were you aware that the Tigris debt had been factored

        36       into contracts for the sale of wheat to Iraq, other than by

        37       what Mr Quennell told you in September 2004?

        38       A.   No.

        39

        40       Q.   Mr Cooper, whose decision was it to retain external

        41       solicitors to conduct the Tigris investigation, or the

        42       review that was conducted by Mr Quennell?

        43       A.   It was my decision.

        44

        45       Q.   Did you make that decision so that any results of that

        46       investigation would be covered by a claim of legal

        47       professional privilege?
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         1       A.   No, I did not.

         2

         3       Q.   Why didn't you conduct the review yourself?

         4       A.   Because I didn't have time to conduct the inquiry

         5       myself.  I had a legal team of 12 people, I had a legal

         6       matters database tracking several thousand matters at any

         7       one time, of which a thousand matters might be active.  I

         8       was in a general management position in terms of the legal

         9       matters for the company, and on matters like this I relied

        10       very heavily on both my in-house team, and we briefed a

        11       very, very large number of matters out to external counsel.

        12

        13       Q.   Why didn't you have one of your in-house team conduct

        14       the investigation?

        15       A.   Because - some of my in-house team were involved, but

        16       because in this particular case the subject matter required

        17       particular expertise in the area of international trade and

        18       chartering matters.

        19

        20       Q.   Did you make the electronic database of AWB available

        21       to Mr Quennell?

        22       A.   Yes.  When he was instructed on 12 August, the first

        23       few days of his instructions he met with two of the members

        24       of the AWB in-house legal team and they listed all of the

        25       potential sources of information in relation to this

        26       matter, such as electronic records of the company, and they

        27       approached the IT manager to source those; files of the

        28       chartering division; files of the international sales and

        29       marketing division --

        30

        31       Q.   Including the electronic files?

        32       A.   Yes.  And - well, particularly emails, and I am aware

        33       of the recent issue from the transcripts about market

        34       briefs on Lotus Notes databases.  I would have to conduct a

        35       review of what Quennell did to see whether he actually

        36       sourced those electronic databases from the information

        37       technology manager.

        38

        39       Q.   Were they made available to him?

        40       A.   He had - basically he was given a full opportunity to

        41       source any information he wanted within the company, and he

        42       came back and suggested other areas that he might want to

        43       obtain information from, given his familiarity with the

        44       company at that stage.  He had been working for the company

        45       since 2001 in international trade matters for us.

        46

        47       Q.   Now, he gave you a chronology and a number of AWB
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         1       documents.

         2       A.   When the chronology was finalised - there was a series

         3       of steps.  He prepared a chronology in September, met with

         4       me in the first - that meeting that you mentioned, I can't

         5       remember the date - September, the first few days of

         6       September - he gave preliminary advice, which I won't

         7       mention --

         8

         9       Q.   Did he give you AWB documents then?

        10       A.   I can't recall at that meeting whether he actually

        11       brought documents with him or he just brought his

        12       chronology to go through with me.

        13

        14       Q.   In terms of the documents he gave you from Blake

        15       Dawson Waldron, they included a chronology.  Did they

        16       include a list of AWB documents?

        17       A.   Yes, the chronology cross-referenced the sources of

        18       each of the pieces of information in this chronology.

        19

        20       Q.   Have you still got that chronology?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   By reference to it, would you be able to say whether

        24       or not he gave you any AWB documents?

        25       A.   I could try.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Is the chronology available in the hearing

        28       room?

        29

        30       Q.   Whilst that's being sourced, you say at a later date

        31       he gave you a chronology and a list and a compilation of

        32       AWB documents?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   When was that?

        36       A.   I would have to look at my file, but it was about a

        37       month later, because in the intervening period when he

        38       briefed me I then subsequently had a meeting with the

        39       managing director, Andrew Lindberg, and gave him the

        40       preliminary findings.

        41

        42       Q.   Is that the meeting that I have referred to as having

        43       taken place on 10 September 2004?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   So you had that meeting with Mr Lindberg?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did you keep the documents that he gave you - that is,

         3       that Mr Quennell gave you about a month later, which I make

         4       it, I imagine, about October - did you keep those?

         5       A.   Yes, they became a fundamental part of this Project

         6       Water file.

         7

         8       Q.   Can you identify those by reference to the file?

         9       A.   Yes, I can, because they are clearly tabulated at the

        10       back of a statement of facts about the Tigris matter.

        11

        12       Q.   Is that compilation in the hearing room?

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   The compilation itself, sir, would be

        15       privileged, we say - that is, the arrangement of documents,

        16       the chronology and comments upon them.  The actual

        17       documents themselves are not, but --

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are you in a position to identify those

        20       particular documents?

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   I am not at this stage, but no doubt that can be

        23       done.  I'm not sure whether my friend has a set of them

        24       here, but --

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm sure if you give Mr Agius a list of

        27       the dates of the documents and from whom and to whom they

        28       were transmitted, we can probably find them on the

        29       register, assuming that they've been provided to the

        30       inquiry already.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   We perceive a problem with that, sir, because

        33       what it does is discloses the foundation of the advice and

        34       the chronology - that is, the compilation, rather than the

        35       individual documents.  Now, we understand the problem that

        36       causes the Commission.  We're alive to that.  But we are

        37       concerned about the compilation; that is, the particular

        38       documents that were the subject of the advice.

        39

        40            My learned friend can go to documents and ask

        41       Mr Cooper if he's seen them and his view about them - we

        42       have no difficulty about that --

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   What that means, in practical terms, is

        45       that we can press a button on the computer and produce

        46       every document and put them to the witness one by one.  How

        47       long that would take I don't know - perhaps weeks.  The
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         1       alternative is you can indicate the documents which are

         2       there, which are listed.  I must say I would take some

         3       persuading that the mere fact that a chronology refers to

         4       particular documents of AWB and that the chronology was a

         5       part of the obtaining of legal advice produces the

         6       circumstance that you're not obliged to indicate the

         7       particular documents within AWB records referred to in the

         8       chronology, because it doesn't seem to me that that in any

         9       way would convey the nature or the extent or the substance

        10       of the advice.  It's simply a listing of documents.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   We don't accept, sir, the proposition that there

        13       is likely to be any delay in Mr Agius putting to this

        14       witness Tigris-related documents which were provided to

        15       this Commission in two lever-arch folders.  It may be that

        16       it's simply a matter of pressing a button.  For our part,

        17       sir, we would submit that it is very unlikely that Mr Agius

        18       does not have those documents at his elbow and is not able

        19       to put them one by one over a very short compass to this

        20       witness.  Nevertheless, we'll consider the position that

        21       you put, sir, and if we can do so over the next few minutes

        22       as the examination is proceeding.  We don't want to

        23       interfere with it, but I would like to have a look at the

        24       compilation together with the chronology, and we'll respond

        25       in a moment, if I may.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think I'll adjourn to give you the

        28       opportunity to do that.

        29

        30       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I've been advised that the

        33       chronology annexing a compilation of documents that the

        34       witness received in October of 2004 is not in Sydney, it's

        35       in Melbourne, so even if there were not an issue about it,

        36       and if he were, without objection, able to access it, he's

        37       not able to do it today.

        38

        39            I've also been advised that the chronology itself does

        40       not identify the documents.  It makes reference to them,

        41       but doesn't identify them.  So there would be no point in

        42       having the chronology faxed up so that the witness could

        43       look at the chronology.

        44

        45            It is our respectful submission that it is not a

        46       breach of legal professional privilege to ask this witness

        47       whether he saw a particular document in September or
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         1       October of 2004, and it is not a breach of legal

         2       professional privilege to have this witness look at a

         3       compilation of documents that he knows he received in

         4       September/October 2004, whether he received them from a

         5       lawyer or not.  Privilege doesn't attach to the answer to

         6       those questions if he received the compilation of documents

         7       from the lawyer if the documents are AWB documents which

         8       were brought into existence for the ordinary purpose of

         9       conducting the business of AWB, which is what we understand

        10       the documents are.

        11

        12            All of that may be rather a mute exercise and it seems

        13       to me not worth debating at this time, with respect,

        14       because we don't have the compilation in any event, and any

        15       ruling on it would be hollow, because we couldn't act on it

        16       if the ruling were in our favour.  So I don't seek a ruling

        17       on it at the moment.  There is authority that supports our

        18       position, to which we've drawn attention.  That authority

        19       can be found in the 6th Edition of Cross on Evidence at

        20       paragraph 25.225 and in a decision of the Full Federal

        21       Court of the National Crime Authority v S at 100 ALR 151,

        22       in particular at 165 and 166.  I won't take up time at the

        23       moment with that.  Perhaps I might continue the examination

        24       of Mr Cooper.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Cooper, by September of 2004 you were

        29       aware that the Tigris debt had been recouped by AWB by

        30       inflating the price of wheat in wheat contracts; would you

        31       agree with that?

        32       A.   Yes, I do agree with that.

        33

        34       Q.   You were aware that Resolution 661 did not permit the

        35       increase in the price of wheat in contracts to cover

        36       something like the Tigris debt?

        37       A.   I was aware that UN Resolution 661 was an issue in

        38       this matter, yes.

        39

        40       Q.   And you were aware by September of 2004 that

        41       Resolution 661 did not permit the increase in contract

        42       price for wheat to cover something like the Tigris debt?

        43       A.   With --

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, could I just object, on this

        46       basis, that 661 does not in terms say that at all.  I don't

        47       think anyone would disagree with that proposition.  What it
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         1       does do is say that certain transactions are not permitted.

         2       If the question is formulated in that manner, perhaps it

         3       can lead to a more informed answer, but it is wrong, in our

         4       submission, to ask the question in the terms in which it

         5       is, because 661 does not address the particular matter my

         6       friend has formulated.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   I was rather telescoping everything.

         9

        10       MR JUDD:   I understand the utilitiy of that, but, in our

        11       submission, it's unhelpful.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   You have to go the long way round,

        14       Mr Agius.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Let me put it more broadly and see if I can try

        19       another short method, Mr Cooper, in the interests of saving

        20       time.  You were aware that there was a sanctions regime

        21       that applied to contracts for the sale of wheat between

        22       Australia and the IGB?

        23       A.   Yes, I was.

        24

        25       Q.   You were aware that that sanctions regime included at

        26       least the following principles:  that the AWB could sell

        27       wheat to the Iraqis by contract in circumstances where the

        28       contracts were approved by the UN and the funds would come

        29       from an escrow account held by the UN?

        30       A.   Yes, I was.

        31

        32       Q.   And you were aware that the contracts, in order to

        33       gain approval, had to be for humanitarian goods, such as

        34       food, including wheat?

        35       A.   Yes, I was.

        36

        37       Q.   And you were aware that AWB had forwarded contracts to

        38       the United Nations for approval for the sale of wheat which

        39       disclosed a particular price in respect of that wheat?

        40       A.   Yes, I was.

        41

        42       Q.   And you were aware in relation to the recoupment of

        43       the Tigris debt that, in relation to one or more of those

        44       contracts, the AWB had forwarded contracts to the United

        45       Nations which included an inflated price for the wheat

        46       referred to in the contract for the purpose of recouping

        47       the Tigris debt?
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         1       A.   Yes; yes, I was.

         2

         3       Q.   And you were aware, weren't you, that the inflated

         4       price, and the fact of the inflation of the price, had not

         5       been disclosed to the United Nations?

         6       A.   Yes, I was.

         7

         8       Q.   Why do you keep looking at Mr Judd?  You're either

         9       aware of these things or not.

        10       A.   I'm giving the company an opportunity to object so

        11       that I don't offend the company's claim for legal

        12       professional privilege.

        13

        14       Q.   You understand the claim, don't you?  You understand

        15       the claim for legal professional privilege?

        16       A.   Yes, I do.

        17

        18       Q.   You are still employed as a lawyer by the AWB, aren't

        19       you?

        20       A.   Yes, I am.

        21

        22       Q.   You are aware, then, that when the United Nations

        23       approved the one or more contracts that I've just put to

        24       you, it had not disclosed to it the fact that the contract

        25       included an inflated price for the wheat referred to in the

        26       contract?

        27       A.   Yes, I was.

        28

        29       Q.   With that knowledge, Mr Cooper, I suggest to you that

        30       you would have been aware that that process involved a

        31       breach of the United Nations sanctions.

        32       A.   I was not certain that it involved a breach.

        33

        34       Q.   Did you have a view about it?

        35       A.   I had received advice --

        36

        37       Q.   No, no, no, let's not go down there.  Did you have a

        38       view about it?

        39

        40       MR CLELLAND:   With respect, the witness was about to

        41       explain, I suggest, how he formed a view.  He should be

        42       permitted to finish that answer.  If that's the basis upon

        43       which he formed the view, then this intrudes on the

        44       privilege that's been claimed.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's not a privilege claim for you to

        47       take, Mr Clelland.  That's for the AWB to take if they wish
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         1       to take that claim.  But he wasn't asked about the basis of

         2       his view.  No doubt he would tell us that it's on legal

         3       advice from others.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   The question that I asked, just to shorten

         6       things, could be answered "yes" or "no", that's why I

         7       deliberately asked that question, did he form a view about

         8       it, or did he have a view about it?  The answer to that

         9       question can't possibly - if it's "yes", "no" or "I don't

        10       know" - be a breach of legal professional privilege.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   So what's the answer, Mr Cooper?

        13       A.   Could you repeat the question, please?

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I need to put two questions to you.

        16

        17            Q.   With that knowledge, Mr Cooper, I

        18            suggest to you that you would have been

        19            aware that that process involved a breach

        20            of the United Nations sanctions?

        21

        22       Your answer was:

        23

        24            A.   I was not certain that it involved a

        25            breach.

        26            Q.   Did you have a view about it?

        27

        28       You were going on to say, "I had received advice".  I just

        29       want you to deal with the question:  did you have a view

        30       about it?  Can you answer that "yes", "no" or "I can't

        31       remember"?  I'm not asking you what your view was, I'm

        32       asking you did you have a view?

        33       A.   Yes, I did have a view about it.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you have a view of it, independent of any advice

        36       that you'd received from Mr Quennell or any other lawyer?

        37       A.   No.

        38

        39       Q.   Did you have a view before you obtained that advice?

        40       A.   No.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Why did you seek advice then?

        43       A.   Because it was a very complex area, both factually and

        44       by its legal subject matter, and I required, I felt, expert

        45       assistance from an outside lawyer.

        46

        47       Q.   Does that mean that you had doubts before you sought
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         1       advice as to whether it did or did not breach the United

         2       Nations sanctions?

         3       A.   My doubts were formed after we had started collecting

         4       facts, because when we started collecting the facts on

         5       12 August it was very uncertain as to what the chronology

         6       of events had been, and we weren't at that stage quite sure

         7       about what the legal issues were.  The primary legal issue

         8       which had been briefed to Quennell on 12 August was was it

         9       proper to pay Tigris an amount of money, and the first

        10       thing that I instructed Blake Dawson Waldron to do was to

        11       conduct a review of all of the facts and compile a

        12       chronology, and then we would start to formulate what the

        13       legal issues were and whether we required any legal advice

        14       on them.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you have a view about whether it was

        17       proper to pay Tigris the money that had been recouped

        18       independent of any advice you received from Mr Quennell or

        19       any other lawyer?

        20       A.   No, I didn't.

        21

        22       Q.   So that was the primary question, wasn't it, whether

        23       it was proper to pay Tigris the money?

        24       A.   There were a number of questions, from memory.  That

        25       was one of them. I think there were three questions.  Would

        26       you like me to tell you the other two questions?

        27

        28       Q.   No, I don't think you can.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'd like you to, but you can't.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you - this again I'd like you to

        33       answer "yes" or "no", if you can - consult with Mr Lindberg

        34       on the topic of whether or not the Tigris debt, the money

        35       recouped on behalf of Tigris, could be paid to Tigris?

        36       A.   Yes, I did.

        37

        38       Q.   After you had received the advice from Mr Quennell?

        39       A.   Yes, I did.

        40

        41       Q.   Did you agree with Mr Quennell's advice?

        42       A.   It was a preliminary advice, so I took the advice and

        43       it instructed us to do --

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   Well --

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Really you can answer this question "yes"
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         1       or "no", please, Mr Cooper.

         2       A.   I didn't form a view whether I agreed - oh, well,

         3       yes - yeah, I suppose I did agree with the advice as to

         4       what I had to do next.

         5

         6       Q.   Did you brief Mr Quennell with a statement of facts or

         7       did you leave Mr Quennell to find the facts upon which his

         8       advice was based for himself?

         9       A.   The latter.

        10

        11       Q.   In the email of 9 September 2004, which is subject to

        12       a claim of legal professional privilege in part, you say to

        13       Ms Scales, "Have finished factual review, briefing Andrew

        14       Lindberg on that tomorrow".  Did you brief Andrew Lindberg

        15       on the factual review?

        16       A.   Yes, I did.

        17

        18       Q.   What facts did you brief him on - not the advice of

        19       Mr Quennell, but what facts did you brief Mr Lindberg on?

        20       A.   The fact that we had undertaken a factual review, that

        21       I had received advice from Quennell, that it recommended --

        22

        23       Q.   You can't tell us that.

        24       A.   No, sorry.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I think the question you were

        27       asked was what facts did you brief Mr Lindberg on?

        28       A.   I gave him a general outline of the Tigris matter as

        29       it had been compiled by - sorry, as it had been compiled by

        30       Blake Dawson Waldron in a chronology.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What facts did you brief him on?

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   Well, Commissioner, it does appear that the

        35       question is leading to this end, if I understand

        36       Mr Cooper's evidence:  that he conveyed, in effect, the

        37       advice of Mr Quennell to Mr Lindberg.  If that's the case,

        38       it's a privileged communication.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's not conveying the advice, I don't

        41       think, he's being asked; he's being asked what facts were

        42       communicated to Mr Lindberg.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   If what is communicated is the compilation, we

        45       get back to the same point.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   The compilation of?
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   Of facts assembled - a chronology, et cetera -

         3       produced by Mr Quennell.  If those are the facts, then

         4       they're the subject of privilege and that communication is

         5       a privileged occasion.  We don't contend for a minute that

         6       that the individual documents are privileged.  They were

         7       brought into existence for commercial purposes.  There's no

         8       doubt about that.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Except we don't know what those

        11       documents are.

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   Except we don't know what those documents are.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   And, as I understand your submission,

        16       we're not entitled to find out.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   Correct.  We would so contend.  We would be at

        19       odds with our friend and his interpretation of the law in

        20       this regard.  We say the compilation is the thing that is

        21       privileged, because its disclosure that tends to erode the

        22       protection of the advice.  But the individual documents

        23       themselves are not privileged.  If what Mr Cooper is doing

        24       is conveying to Mr Lindberg what he's being told by

        25       Mr Quennell, that is a privileged occasion.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   In relation to?

        28

        29       MR JUDD:   In relation to the chronology, fax, interviews,

        30       whatever.  That is a privileged communication.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, it is ridiculous to suggest,

        33       and entirely outside the law to suggest, that, for example,

        34       Mr Quennell gave this witness a copy of an AWB document and

        35       for this witness to disclose that he spoke to Mr Lindberg

        36       about that document would be a breach of legal professional

        37       privilege.  That is, with the greatest of respect to my

        38       friend, a ridiculous proposition.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't think Mr Judd is putting that.

        41       As I understand his submission, it involves this, that

        42       Mr Cooper would be able to tell us if he told Mr Lindberg

        43       in relation to a document which was an AWB document, even

        44       though it was referred to him by Mr Quennell, but he could

        45       not tell us of any finding of fact that Mr Quennell may

        46       have made which Mr Cooper may have communicated to

        47       Mr Lindberg.  Is that right, Mr Judd?
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   If Mr Cooper, for example, were to be asked did

         3       he show any document to Mr Lindberg, he could answer that

         4       question.  Perhaps the responses from Mr Lindberg in the

         5       context of this investigation may be privileged, but the

         6       document itself is not.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why would that be?  Why would the

         9       response of Mr Lindberg be privileged?

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   Because it's part of the investigation which has

        12       been commissioned by Mr Cooper --

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, it's a communication of the

        15       investigation and his responses don't touch on that.  They

        16       don't deal with the obtaining or communicating of legal

        17       advice.  They're responses to the chief executive officer.

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   It depends, sir, on what the circumstance was of

        20       the conversation.  If it's simply conveying information to

        21       Mr Lindberg by saying, "Here I have a document that I wish

        22       to show you", that's one thing.  But if the process is one

        23       where he is taking instructions from Mr Lindberg on the

        24       document for the purpose of the investigation, it's

        25       another.  It really lies in Mr Cooper's court to identify

        26       what was the occasion of the conversation with Mr Lindberg.

        27       I understand his evidence to be that what he was doing was

        28       conveying, in effect, the advice and the information

        29       provided by Mr Quennell.  Now, if that's so, it's

        30       privileged.  If it's a different kind of conversation where

        31       he's simply handing Mr Lindberg a document and saying,

        32       "Look at this", the disclosure of that to Mr Lindberg is

        33       something about which he can say something.  What he can't

        34       do is go on to say what Mr Lindberg said about it if what

        35       he's asking Mr Lindberg is instructions on the document.

        36       So it's a question only Mr Cooper can answer in terms of

        37       what the occasion was.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Cooper, your email says that you were

        40       briefing Andrew Lindberg on the factual review.  Verbatim

        41       it reads:

        42

        43            Sarah - have finished factual review.

        44            Briefing Andrew Lindberg on that tomorrow.

        45

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   I do not want you to disclose any advice that

         2       Mr Quennell gave you.  Did you brief Mr Lindberg on the

         3       fact - not an opinion, but on the fact - that AWB had

         4       recouped the Tigris debt by inflating or loading up the

         5       contract price for wheat?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   In this meeting with Mr Lindberg on 10 September was a

         9       decision reached that the Tigris debt could be paid to

        10       Tigris?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   Can I bring you forward now to the board meeting that

        14       took place three months later, on 14 December 2004, and can

        15       we go to your file note, exhibit 40, barcode EXH.0001.0032.

        16       Can you see that on the screen?

        17       A.   Yes, I can.

        18

        19       Q.   Is that a file note that you made?

        20       A.   Yes, it is.

        21

        22       Q.   Was this a note that you made to assist you in giving

        23       a briefing to the board, or was it a note that you made of

        24       somebody else's briefing to the board?

        25       A.   It's a note I made of somebody else's briefing to the

        26       board.

        27

        28       Q.   Whose briefing to the board is this a note of?

        29       A.   Andrew Lindberg's.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   It's actually the two boards, is

        32       it not - AWB and AWBI?

        33       A.   Yes, Commissioner, it was a joint information session

        34       of both boards.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Had you provided Mr Lindberg with the

        37       information that we see recorded in your file note?

        38       A.   I had advised Andrew Lindberg prior to this meeting in

        39       relation to the Tigris matter.

        40

        41       Q.   Well, this file note relates only to the Tigris

        42       matter, doesn't it?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   So had you given Mr Lindberg the information that we

        46       read in this file note?

        47       A.   It's difficult to say that I gave him all of the
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         1       information, because some of it might be attributable to

         2       his views, but, broadly, yes, I did provide him with the

         3       information upon which this briefing was given by him.

         4

         5       Q.   When you made this note, were you endeavouring as best

         6       you could to accurately record the substance of what it was

         7       that Mr Lindberg said to the joint board meeting?

         8       A.   Yes, I was.

         9

        10       Q.   Will you agree with me that nowhere in that note is

        11       there any reference to the mechanism by which the Tigris

        12       debt was recouped by the AWB?

        13       A.   Not directly, no.

        14

        15       Q.   When you say "not directly", was it the case that the

        16       board was not told the mechanism by which the AWB had

        17       recouped or collected the debt?

        18       A.   I believe, from memory, that Andrew Lindberg told the

        19       board that AWB had collected the debt through its

        20       contracts, but he didn't go into any detail about what

        21       those contracts were or the mechanism.

        22

        23       Q.   To the best of your recollection, what did Mr Lindberg

        24       say?

        25       A.   I have to say that this note is the order in which he

        26       spoke and I wrote as quickly as I could.  So he started out

        27       by saying - well, would you like me to go through my note?

        28

        29       Q.   No, no, what did he say on the topic of collecting the

        30       debt?

        31       A.   I cannot recall exactly what he said on collecting the

        32       debt, but I believe it was apparent that the debt - the

        33       only method by which the debt could have been collected

        34       from the Iraqi Grain Board was through AWB's contracts,

        35       wheat contracts, which it was making with the Iraqi Grain

        36       Board.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I don't understand that answer.

        39       A.   What I mean, Commissioner, is that the only conduit

        40       that we had with the Iraqi Grain Board was the wheat

        41       contracts and that in the fifth bullet point, "Tigris

        42       assisted AWB in recovering its market share and in return

        43       AWB agreed to assist Tigris in recovering its debt", that's

        44       the part of Andrew Lindberg's briefing.

        45

        46       Q.   That conveys nothing about loading up wheat contracts

        47       to recover the debt.
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         1       A.   I don't know that he specifically covered the loading

         2       up of wheat contracts to recover the debt.

         3

         4       Q.   This is of critical importance, you understand?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   There's no reference to wheat contracts

         8       being a conduit for recouping the debt, whether by loading

         9       up or otherwise, in your note; would you agree with that?

        10       A.   Yes, I'll agree in my note there's no mention of that.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I want you to think very carefully

        13       and take your time and, to the best of your recollection,

        14       tell me as best you can what Mr Lindberg said, if he said

        15       anything at all, as to the manner in which AWB had assisted

        16       Tigris in the recovery of its debt.

        17       A.   Commissioner, it's very hard for me to recall the

        18       exact conversation.  It's possible that there were

        19       questions from the board as to how that was able to take

        20       place, but I cannot say for certain.  It's possible, for

        21       instance, a director said, "How did that happen", and

        22       Andrew could have addressed it, but I cannot recall with

        23       certainty that it was dealt with.

        24

        25       Q.   Are you making a suggestion that somebody did ask that

        26       question, or are you just saying it's possible and you have

        27       no recollection of it?

        28       A.   I'm saying it's possible, but I have no positive

        29       recollection that that was the case.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What do you say to the suggestion that

        32       during this meeting the board was not made aware that the

        33       Tigris debt was recovered by inflating the price of AWB's

        34       wheat contracts with the IGB?

        35       A.   I cannot say for certain - I cannot recall whether

        36       there was actually a conversation between Andrew and any

        37       board members where they questioned him on how the debt was

        38       actually collected.

        39

        40       Q.   Your file note says, "Debt was collected - AWBI

        41       received USD1.3m", and then it says, "Payment by AWBI to

        42       Tigris".

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   Were the board told that the payment had already been

        46       made to Tigris?

        47       A.   I believe they were.
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         1

         2       Q.   What do you say to the suggestion that they were not

         3       told that?

         4       A.   We had actually made the payment on - the management

         5       had made the payment on 9 December --

         6

         7       Q.   Yes.

         8       A.   -- and so this was not something that was an issue,

         9       but I cannot recall either way whether Andrew did or didn't

        10       say whether it had been made.

        11

        12       Q.   You see, there will be evidence after you have given

        13       evidence, Mr Cooper, and I'm endeavouring to put to you

        14       what may well be the evidence of one or more board members

        15       to the effect that the board was not told that the

        16       contracts had been inflated to recover the debt and that

        17       the board was not told that the money had already been paid

        18       to Tigris as at 14 December 2004.  We dealt with the first

        19       issue.  I'm now putting the second issue to you.  What do

        20       you say about the suggestion that the board was not told as

        21       at 14 December 2004 in this meeting that the money had

        22       already been paid to Tigris?

        23       A.   Well, Andrew Lindberg had been told, and he was a

        24       director of the company.

        25

        26       Q.   I'm not being critical of you.  I'm just asking you to

        27       recall what happened on the occasion.  I'm not suggesting

        28       to you that Mr Lindberg didn't know; I'm using the word

        29       "board" purposefully - the joint boards at this meeting.

        30       What do you say to a suggestion that at this meeting the

        31       joint boards were not told that AWBI had already paid the

        32       money to Tigris?

        33       A.   I don't recall it being a matter that was discussed at

        34       that board meeting at any length.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   At all - discussed at all?

        37       A.   It must have been discussed because I have this note

        38       in the fourth bullet point from the bottom.

        39

        40       Q.   That doesn't address the question.

        41       A.   But it doesn't address the question about when the

        42       payment was made and whether the board was told that.  I

        43       cannot recall whether the board was told whether the

        44       payment had already been made.

        45

        46       Q.   Was the matter put to the board for approval or for

        47       information only?
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         1       A.   For information only.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Cooper, at the bottom of your file note

         4       there's a reference "John Simpson - wants paper on Tigris @

         5       next Bd mtg - it seems extraordinary".  Was a paper

         6       prepared for the board following this board meeting?

         7       A.   I don't believe such a paper was prepared.

         8

         9       Q.   What happened to Mr Simpson's request for a paper on

        10       the Tigris matter?

        11       A.   I believe that it was considered in February, when the

        12       papers were being prepared for a March board meeting, and I

        13       consulted with the managing director and the company

        14       secretary, the other company secretary, Richard Fuller,

        15       about whether we should prepare such a paper.  And they

        16       told me that we had moved on from this matter and there was

        17       no need to prepare such a briefing paper.  I presumed that

        18       they had dealt with the matter after the December board

        19       meeting with John Simpson.

        20

        21       Q.   When you say "they" told you, were you told this

        22       whilst Mr Lindberg and Mr Fuller were together, or were you

        23       told separately by them?

        24       A.   I believe from my review of the matters that it was at

        25       a meeting with them together in late February of 2005.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   When Mr Simpson raised his query,

        28       saying "it seems extraordinary", and asked for a paper, did

        29       you not say to him "We've already had a full review by

        30       external lawyers, and that is available"?

        31       A.   I personally didn't speak to him, Commissioner.  I

        32       didn't speak during this particular briefing, so I didn't

        33       address him about that particular issue.

        34

        35       Q.   Did Mr Lindberg?

        36       A.   That's difficult for me.  I actually have no knowledge

        37       about whether Mr Lindberg addressed it, but I do know that

        38       the matter of Tigris was dealt with again the next day in

        39       the AWB Limited board meeting, which I was not present at,

        40       and I have no knowledge of any subsequent discussions

        41       between Andrew and the board members.

        42

        43       Q.   So it was readdressed on 15 December, was it?

        44       A.   I believe from my review of the minutes for this

        45       inquiry that it's recorded in the minutes as having been

        46       addressed again at the actual board meeting, as compared to

        47       this day, which was a joint information session for the
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         1       boards.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Cooper, we have the board minutes for

         4       15 December 2004 of AWB Limited.  Could we bring up

         5       confidential exhibit 66C, AWB.0194.0047.  It lists you as

         6       being in attendance.

         7       A.   Oh, yes. I beg your pardon.

         8

         9       Q.   And if we go to 0049, you'll see there's a reference

        10       under subparagraph (b), "Joint Information Session -

        11       Tuesday 14 December 2004" - that's the day before:

        12

        13            The Board noted that a Joint Information

        14            Session - attended by directors of both

        15            AWB Limited and AWB (International)

        16            Limited - had been held prior to this Board

        17            meeting on Tuesday 14 December 2004 at

        18            which the following presentations had been

        19            made.

        20

        21       If we go down four dot points:

        22

        23            Project Water - Tigris (address by Mr Jim

        24            Cooper, General Counsel)...

        25

        26       Had you addressed both boards on 14 December?

        27       A.   No, I did not.

        28

        29       Q.   Then if we go over to 0057, under the heading

        30       "Tigris":

        31

        32            The Managing Director briefed the Board in

        33            relation to the Tigris transaction.  It was

        34            noted that Tigris had assisted AWB in

        35            recovering threatened wheat sales in Iraq

        36            in 2002; in consideration for that

        37            assistance AWB had assisted Tigris in

        38            recovering a debt owed to Tigris by the

        39            Grains Board of Iraq; Tigris had paid a

        40            commission for the recovery of the debt and

        41            all of that commission was paid to AWB

        42            (International) Limited and therefore to

        43            growers.

        44

        45       Then there's a claim for legal professional privilege for

        46       the two lines that are blacked out underneath that.  Did

        47       the briefing by the managing director take place on the
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         1       14th or the 15th?

         2       A.   Is that - it would help if I just know what that

         3       document is, page 11 of what document?

         4

         5       Q.   That's page 11 of a document which I just showed you

         6       the first page of, the minutes of the 85th board meeting of

         7       Wednesday, 15 December 2004.

         8       A.   Can I make one correction?  I was at that board

         9       meeting, and the reason for my confusion was that in early

        10       December of 2004 Andrew had asked if I would take up the

        11       role of company secretary and it needed to be approved by

        12       the board.  I believe it was approved at the December board

        13       meeting of 2004.  Prior to that date I had only attended

        14       board meetings at invitation for specific issues.  But I

        15       believe I was at that board meeting.

        16

        17       Q.   Well, according to the minutes of this board meeting

        18       you had addressed the joint session on Tuesday, the 14th,

        19       and if we read the minutes the way in which they appear to

        20       have been written, it was Mr Lindberg who had briefed the

        21       board on 15 December.  You would say that the situation was

        22       not --

        23       A.   No, actually, I know for certain that Andrew Lindberg

        24       was the only one who briefed the board about Tigris.

        25

        26       Q.   And your file note is dated, I take it in your

        27       handwriting, 14/12/04?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Cooper, at the board meeting on

        31       the 15th did you give to the board legal advice regarding

        32       Tigris?

        33       A.   I don't believe I spoke at that board meeting, and I

        34       didn't give legal advice.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, how can there be a claim for

        37       legal professional privilege?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   In respect of what?

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   The portion that's blacked out.  I

        42       don't know what it says, but if there was no legal advice

        43       given, how can there be a claim for legal professional

        44       privilege?

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   It's external advice, sir.  It describes other

        47       advice.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, I just asked Mr Cooper if he gave

         3       any advice and he said no.

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   Correct.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   I would have thought that if external

         8       legal advice was to be communicated, it would come from the

         9       general counsel.  Are you telling me it came from somebody

        10       else?

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   There is a reference there to legal advice given

        13       by persons other than Mr Cooper.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Right.  Then I'll ask Mr Cooper again.

        16

        17       Q.   You have said you did not convey any legal advice to

        18       this board meeting?

        19       A.   Correct.

        20

        21       Q.   Did anybody else do so?

        22       A.   I believe the managing director conveyed the substance

        23       of legal advice.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Your file note of 14 December 2004 records

        28       this, "I have checked compliance with all necessary laws

        29       and confirm there have been no breaches", as something that

        30       was said to the board.  Was that something that was said by

        31       Mr Lindberg?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Is that what he said, that he checked compliance with

        35       all necessary laws and confirmed that there'd been no

        36       breaches?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Did he say specifically that there had been no

        40       breaches of the sanctions?

        41       A.   I don't believe he elaborated as to which laws had

        42       been checked, no.

        43

        44       Q.   Or as to which laws had not been breached?

        45       A.   Yes, he did not elaborate as to which laws had not

        46       been breached.

        47
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         1       Q.   If we go back to the minutes of the board meeting of

         2       15 December 2004, again, I don't want you to disclose what

         3       the legally professionally privileged material was, but did

         4       Mr Lindberg summarise some legal advice on 15 December?

         5       A.   I don't believe he summarised legal advice on

         6       15 December.

         7

         8       Q.   Did he table any legal advice on 15 December?

         9       A.   No, he did not table legal advice.

        10

        11       Q.   Did he say anything about legal advice on 15 December?

        12       A.   Could I have the minutes up again, please, just that

        13       section?

        14

        15       Q.   Yes.  It's AWB.0194.0047, at 0057.

        16       A.   I, from memory, cannot remember what that section is

        17       that has been blocked out, so I can't recall exactly what

        18       he said, but he must have said something about the legal

        19       advice.

        20

        21       Q.   What we know from the board minutes of 23 February

        22       2005 is that there is an entry amending the minutes of

        23       Wednesday, 15 December 2004, and there's a claim for legal

        24       professional privilege in relation to a portion of the

        25       amendment.  That portion for which there's no claim in

        26       relation to this matter reads as follows:

        27

        28            8(ii) to insert the words...

        29

        30       and then there's a sentence inserted.  It's that sentence

        31       for which there's a claim for legal professional privilege.

        32       A.   Mmm.

        33

        34       Q.   And it's that sentence which has been blacked out of

        35       the minutes for 15 December 2004.  So that you have the

        36       chronology, when these minutes for 15 December 2004 were

        37       first prepared, they did not include the sentence which we

        38       see blacked out, and during the board meeting of

        39       23 February 2005 it was resolved to amend the minutes to

        40       add that sentence in respect of which the claim is now made

        41       for legal professional privilege.  I don't want to know

        42       what the substance of any advice was, but I do want to ask

        43       you a question about what it wasn't.  That's very difficult

        44       to do, given the circumstances of the present claim, so

        45       you'll need to think carefully about the answer and to wait

        46       before you answer.  Was there any statement on 15 December

        47       2004 to the board concerning the legality of the
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         1       recoupment - that is, the method by which the AWB had

         2       assisted Tigris to collect the debt?

         3       A.   Could you repeat it again?

         4

         5       Q.   Yes.  I'll read it to you so that you have it exactly:

         6

         7            Was there any statement on 15 December 2004

         8            to the board concerning the legality of the

         9            recoupment - that is, the method by which

        10            the AWB [Limited] had assisted Tigris to

        11            collect the debt?

        12

        13       A.   I just cannot recall whether there was any such

        14       statement on 15 December.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   What I propose to do is to ask that the witness

        17       be shown the unedited board minutes, including that portion

        18       for which a claim for legal professional privilege is made,

        19       and then to ask him the question again.  Is there any

        20       objection to that?

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   First of all, it comes as a surprise to us that

        23       the Commission has an unedited version of the board minute,

        24       but perhaps we shouldn't be surprised at much at all at

        25       this stage of the inquiry.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Well, we didn't steal it; it was given to us.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   We also have the one of 9 September

        30       2004.  That memorandum as well was given to us.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   We've dealt with that and the claim being made,

        33       it was provided by mistake and if this is in the same

        34       category - there's no issue, we understand, that the

        35       Commission takes with it.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   There is no problem with that.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   I'm concerned that if the witness is shown a

        40       document that discloses the advice and refreshes his memory

        41       from it, it then places it into a category where there's

        42       evidence about it and Mr Agius may well then ordinarily be

        43       entitled to say, "Well, I want to tender that document as

        44       one relating to the evidence of the witness."

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   I won't do that.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   And I wouldn't admit it if he did.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   In our submission, the result of the question is

         4       likely to be one that, in truth, may well - I must say that

         5       I can't quite remember what the sentence says, but it may

         6       well disclose the scope of the advice.  Insofar as it

         7       discloses the scope of the advice, it would tend to

         8       disclose what it was not about, which is the very substance

         9       of the question he wants to ask.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think it's a permissible course,

        12       Mr Judd.

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   We'd be obliged, sir, if, in the fullness of

        15       time, the document delivered by mistake can be returned.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   You will be relieved to know I haven't

        18       seen it, although, if I had, I'd put it out of my mind in

        19       any event.

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   The procedure does seem to be very irregular,

        22       sir, and we take objection to the witness being shown a

        23       document that is the subject of a claim for privilege as

        24       the basis for a question.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have no objection to you producing

        27       the document so that the witness can see it, if the

        28       objection is that the Commission shouldn't have it, even

        29       though it was given to us by mistake.  I think, as a matter

        30       of concept, I can see no reason of principle why he

        31       shouldn't be shown that document in its entirety and then

        32       asked questions about whether or not anything was said

        33       about other topics.

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   I thought he'd been asked about --

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   He had, and he said he couldn't

        38       remember.  This is aimed at refreshing his memory so he may

        39       be able to answer that question.

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   It's the refreshing of the memory that we have

        42       difficulty with, sir, as impinging on legal professional

        43       privilege by reason of the actual material.  It's a bit

        44       like his being handed a piece of advice from somebody to

        45       refresh his memory in order to answer a question about his

        46       own knowledge.  It impinges on the privilege and we would

        47       object to it.  My friend can press him about his
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         1       recollection of whether anything was said at the meeting

         2       about the existence of advice, but in our submission he

         3       shouldn't go down this path.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll allow that.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   I'm content to give my learned friend the

         8       document that I have so that he can make it available to

         9       the witness.  I've flagged the relevant portion.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, can I put it this way:  if I could

        12       be allowed to approach the witness and provide him with

        13       this document as if it were part of the preparation for his

        14       giving evidence, he could read it on that basis, rather

        15       than being asked to refresh his memory by counsel

        16       assisting, which might ordinarily have taken place.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, certainly.  Either you or his

        19       counsel could do that.

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   I'm the one concerned about privilege, sir.

        22

        23       MR CLELLAND:   We would take an entirely different course,

        24       Mr Commissioner.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's not in your hands, Mr Clelland.

        27

        28       THE WITNESS:   Yes, Commissioner.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you return that to Mr Judd,

        31       please?

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Thank you, Mr Cooper.  I'll read you the

        34       question again.

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Was there any statement on 15 December 2004 to the

        38       board concerning the legality of the recoupment - that is,

        39       the method by which AWB Limited had assisted Tigris to

        40       collect the debt?

        41       A.   I still cannot recall, even after having read that

        42       February document, actually what was said about the

        43       legality of recouping the debt on 15 December at the board

        44       meeting.

        45

        46       Q.   Did you ever obtain any advice from anybody on the

        47       question of the legality of the method by which the AWB
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         1       Limited had assisted Tigris to collect the debt?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   From whom did you obtain that advice?

         5       A.   From senior counsel.  Would you like me to tell you

         6       who?

         7

         8       Q.   No.  In the absence of a waiver of legal professional

         9       privilege, Mr Cooper, that would not assist this

        10       Commission, or this inquiry.  If legal advice had been

        11       obtained on the question of the legality of the method by

        12       which the AWB Limited had assisted Tigris to collect the

        13       debt, can you think of any reason why the board would not

        14       have been told that advice from senior counsel on that

        15       issue had been obtained?

        16       A.   No, I can see no reason why they would not have been

        17       told.

        18

        19       Q.   If it be the case that the board was not told that

        20       advice had been obtained on the legality of the method by

        21       which the AWB Limited had assisted Tigris to collect the

        22       debt, can you offer any explanation?

        23       A.   My recollection is I'm not disputing that they were

        24       told, but you asked me directly do I recall them

        25       specifically being told, and I don't.

        26

        27       Q.   Mr Cooper, I'm not suggesting to you that they were

        28       told.  In fact, I'm putting the opposite to you.  I'll put

        29       my question to you again:

        30

        31            If it be the case that the board was not

        32            told that advice had been obtained on the

        33            legality of the method by which the AWB

        34            Limited had assisted Tigris to collect the

        35            debt, can you offer any explanation?

        36

        37       A.   It's a very long question.  Could you just repeat it

        38       again?

        39

        40       Q.   If it be the case that the board was not told of the

        41       existence of advice on the legality of the method by which

        42       the AWB Limited had assisted Tigris to collect the debt,

        43       can you offer any explanation as to why the board was not

        44       told?

        45       A.   No, I can't offer any explanation.  There would be no

        46       reason why we wouldn't tell them about getting senior

        47       counsel's advice.
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         1

         2       Q.   Was legal advice obtained on the question of whether

         3       the method by which the AWB Limited had assisted Tigris to

         4       collect the debt was in breach of UN sanctions?

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   We're getting to traverse the area of the scope

         7       of the advice, sir.  My friend has got an answer to his

         8       question about the existence of legal advice and tried to

         9       put that in context concerning the loading up of contracts.

        10       To extend that further into additional details and issues

        11       would tend in these circumstances to begin to expose

        12       Mr Cooper to answer the subject matter.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I'll allow the question.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You appreciate, Mr Cooper, I've asked you

        17       whether legal advice had been obtained on the legality of

        18       the method by which the AWB had assisted Tigris to collect

        19       the debt.  Now I'm asking you a related question as to

        20       whether legal advice had been obtained on the question of

        21       whether the method by which AWB Limited had assisted Tigris

        22       to collect the debt was in breach of UN sanctions.

        23       A.   Yes, advice was obtained from senior counsel on that

        24       question.

        25

        26       Q.   Can you think of any reason why that advice would not

        27       have been passed to the board?

        28       A.   No, it was an advice that --

        29

        30       Q.   Don't reveal the content of the advice.

        31       A.   No, I won't reveal the content of the advice, but

        32       Andrew Lindberg had specifically asked me to seek that

        33       advice when I met with him on 10 September, and we did

        34       obtain that advice, as well as advice from a second senior

        35       counsel on a related but different subject area of the law.

        36

        37       Q.   Your file note of 14 December 2004 says nothing about

        38       legal advice having been received on the topics of whether

        39       the method of recoupment of the debt was lawful or unlawful

        40       or was within or in breach of UN sanctions beyond recording

        41       Mr Lindberg saying that he had checked compliance with all

        42       necessary laws and confirms there have been no breaches.

        43       Will you confirm then that the board was not told on

        44       14 December 2004 that legal advice had been obtained - will

        45       you confirm that, that on 14 December the board was not

        46       told that legal advice had been obtained?

        47       A.   I can't confirm that, because it's possible that
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         1       Andrew may have been asked a question as to who had given

         2       that advice, but I can't recall - I can't say yes to your

         3       question.

         4

         5       Q.   You can't recall one way or the other?

         6       A.   No, I can't recall on that point.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Does the same position apply in

         9       relation to the 15 December board meeting; namely, that you

        10       can't recall one way or the other?

        11       A.   Yes, Commissioner, I just can't recall the specifics

        12       of any question.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Just before I leave this topic, did

        15       Mr Simpson explain why it was that he wanted a paper on

        16       Tigris for the next board meeting?

        17       A.   No, he did not.

        18

        19       Q.   Did he say what aspect of the matter seemed

        20       extraordinary?

        21       A.   No, he did not.

        22

        23       Q.   In what context did he ask for a paper on Tigris at

        24       the next board meeting?

        25       A.   Could you explain the context?

        26

        27       Q.   That's what I'm asking you, can you explain the

        28       context in which Mr Simpson said that he wanted a paper on

        29       Tigris at the next board meeting?

        30       A.   The context was that it was in the AWB boardroom,

        31       there was a meeting of both boards of directors, which was

        32       termed a joint information session, so it wasn't a formal

        33       board meeting, it was to provide information to the

        34       directors.  Andrew Lindberg was briefing the directors

        35       about this issue, amongst other topics, through the period

        36       of the meeting, and John Simpson made this comment verbally

        37       from around the board table and I recorded it.

        38

        39       Q.   We have Ms Scales' note.  Could we bring up, please,

        40       AWB.0270.0024, exhibit 344.  In relation to Mr Simpson,

        41       Ms Scales has recorded:

        42

        43            Question re:   Tigris Paper

        44            I think it is extraordinary and I am

        45            surprised.

        46

        47       Can you recall any more of what Mr Simpson said?
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         1       A.   I don't believe he said very much at all beyond the

         2       remarks that are recorded in my file note.  I don't believe

         3       he elaborated at all.

         4

         5       Q.   In relation to Mr Thame, your file note records:

         6

         7            PR risk is high...

         8

         9       and then I think it's a symbol and the word "don't" - is it

        10       "therefore don't"?

        11       A.   No, it's just a dash.

        12

        13       Q.   "PR risk is high - don't rely on legal situation".

        14       Ms Scales' note is "Tigris chq through AWBI account.

        15       Therefore we are now tainted."   She's also made a note

        16       "James Hardy classic example.  Mood in market place".  Do

        17       you recall Mr Thame saying something about that?

        18       A.   I don't personally recall, no, John Thame making those

        19       comments.

        20

        21       Q.   Do you recall him saying something about AWBI being

        22       tainted because the cheque went through the AWBI account,

        23       or was to go through the AWBI account?

        24       A.   No, I just don't recall that statement.

        25

        26       Q.   You will recall yesterday afternoon I was asking you

        27       about the Tigris transaction and we had identified the

        28       document which recorded your conversation with

        29       Mr Davidson Kelly.  I asked you this question:

        30

        31            Q.   Is there any other documentary record

        32            of the assistance that Tigris either

        33            claimed to have offered or that was claimed

        34            by others that Tigris offered to AWB?

        35

        36       Your answer was:

        37

        38            A.  There was no legal agreement or any

        39            other document that a lawyer would

        40            typically find to reflect a commercial

        41            arrangement, but I would have to, say,

        42            perhaps check overnight to see what other -

        43            there may be emails, for instance, that I

        44            can't recall the specifics of now, but

        45            there may be emails or other documents in

        46            the report that was provided to me by

        47            Chris Quennell which could contain such
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         1            information.

         2

         3       Can I ask you, Mr Cooper, was there any other documentary

         4       record of any assistance either that Tigris claimed to have

         5       offered or that was claimed by others that Tigris had

         6       offered to AWB, aside from the record of your conversation

         7       with Mr Davidson Kelly?

         8       A.   Yes, overnight the company conducted a review of that

         9       file.  There are documents prepared by the lawyers who

        10       conducted the Tigris review that record interviews with

        11       staff members, and I've only been informed but I have not

        12       seen that there might be a reference in a trip report to

        13       the question that you asked.  And there are file notes of

        14       the meetings by lawyers with staff members when they were

        15       gathering the factual information about the Tigris matter.

        16

        17       Q.   This is after the event?

        18       A.   Yes, correct.

        19

        20       Q.   In terms of any records that relate to or date from

        21       2002 or before, you say there's a trip report - anything

        22       else?

        23       A.   I don't believe anything else was found, no, in the

        24       overnight review.

        25

        26       Q.   That's a trip report that you understand to be in

        27       evidence before this inquiry?

        28       A.   I'm not sure about that.  I would defer to the

        29       company's lawyers, because I haven't this morning seen that

        30       trip report and I'm not sure what its status is.

        31

        32       Q.   That's the only document, then, that in any way refers

        33       to or evidences any agreement between AWB and Tigris

        34       reflecting an agreement that Tigris would assist AWB with

        35       market share in Iraq dating prior to the end of December

        36       2002?

        37       A.   I believe so.

        38

        39       Q.   Would you not, if there had been such an arrangement,

        40       have expected it to have been supported by some written

        41       agreement between AWB and Tigris?

        42       A.   I would have preferred it to have been supported, but

        43       I wouldn't have expected it to have.

        44

        45       Q.   Are you aware of the fact that there are documentary

        46       records dating from 2002 indicating that AWB had agreed to

        47       assist Tigris to recover the debt long before there was any
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         1       suggestion that Tigris might assist AWB to gain a contract

         2       for an increased amount of wheat?

         3       A.   I'm not aware of documents from a long time before,

         4       no.

         5

         6       Q.   You received a letter from Tigris Petroleum of

         7       29 November 2004.  It's part of confidential exhibit 68C,

         8       AWB.0202.0038.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's behind tab 11 in your folder.

        11

        12       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Davidson Kelly was the author of this;

        15       is that right?

        16       A.   Could someone just go up the screen so I could see the

        17       letterhead?  Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Mr Davidson Kelly says in paragraph 2, referring to

        20       versions of the agreement that he's forwarded to you:

        21

        22            I hope it can be read ok.  In case we are

        23            still suffering from enemy action, I attach

        24            as agreed a copy of the relevant clause of

        25            the Agreement.

        26

        27       What was that a reference to?

        28       A.   I believe that the clause he's talking about is

        29       referred to in paragraph 1, which was the correct bank

        30       account number into which the funds were to be paid.

        31

        32       Q.   In what connection then would he have referred to

        33       "enemy action" in that context?

        34       A.   I can't recall specifically, but I think he was having

        35       electronic computer difficulties with transmitting the

        36       documents to me.

        37

        38       Q.   Have you been able to identify the attachment?

        39       A.   No, but I could cause an inquiry to be made for it.

        40

        41       Q.   Ought we not to have had that attachment already?

        42       A.   Everything that was on the Project Water file was

        43       produced to the team that was producing documents to the

        44       Commission, so if the second page is not attached, I can

        45       only explain that it wasn't on the original file.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, we'd be indebted if you were able to obtain that
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         1       attachment, or endeavour to obtain it.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   This is already an exhibit as part of the

         4       compilation, Mr Commissioner, but might I tender it as a

         5       separate exhibit, JMC.0001.0104.

         6

         7       EXHIBIT #416 FAX FROM NORMAN DAVIDSON KELLY TO JIM COOPER,

         8       DATED 29/11/2004, BARCODED JMC.0001.0104

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can we go to JMC.0001.0062, and can we go

        11       to the third page, 0064.  There's some handwriting on that

        12       page:

        13

        14            Diane, original was signed by ML & PAG.

        15            PAG advised it was with Andrew.

        16

        17       Can you identify that handwriting?

        18       A.   I don't know whose handwriting that is.  I can tell

        19       you it's not my handwriting, and it's not the handwriting

        20       of one of the AWB legal team, but I don't know whose

        21       writing it is.

        22

        23       Q.   Was there --

        24       A.   I know who Diane is, that's Andrew Lindberg's

        25       secretary.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Cooper, did you reply to the

        28       letter of 29 November 2004 from Mr Davidson Kelly?

        29       A.   Yes, I believe I would have, Commissioner, by

        30       correcting the bank account details on the document.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Do we have that reply, Mr Cooper?

        33       A.   Can I suggest that my correspondence with

        34       Mr Davidson Kelly was mostly by email.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   But is the reply of the document

        37       behind tab 12.

        38       A.   No, the document - if I have the same document as you,

        39       that's a document - is that a document, Commissioner, to

        40       Andrew Lindberg?

        41

        42       Q.   Yes.

        43       A.   No, that's an internal document, Commissioner.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I show you a document that was

        46       produced to the inquiry since you were last in the witness

        47       box.  It was produced under a letter dated 22 February from
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         1       Messrs Arnold Bloch Leibler, which records:

         2

         3            I refer to paragraph 22 of Jim Cooper's

         4            statement in which he refers to file notes

         5            of Rosemary Peavey.  As counsel has

         6            informed Mr Condon a short while ago, one

         7            of them is not privileged and that is

         8            attached.

         9

        10       So this file note of Rosemary Peavey has been produced.

        11       It's dated 16 August 2004.

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   Could I just correct the record, sir.  This was

        14       provided at lunchtime yesterday.  It was only recently

        15       provided, but it was provided before he commenced his

        16       evidence.

        17

        18       THE WITNESS:   Yes.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What's the background to this file note,

        21       Mr Cooper?

        22       A.   The background to this file note is that on 12 August

        23       I commenced a review of the Tigris matter by instructing

        24       Chris Quennell, and I asked two of my legal division

        25       members, Rosemary Peavey, who wrote this file note, and

        26       Rosalyn Santen, to assist Chris Quennell in collecting all

        27       of the information he would need to conduct the inquiry,

        28       which included access to electronic emails.  Although I

        29       didn't see this file note at the time, I can tell you, in

        30       preparing for this hearing, this is a record by Rosemary

        31       Peavey of a phone call to Sally Burgess, who I believe was

        32       an internal information technology manager within AWB, and

        33       it records Rosemary making arrangements to obtain the email

        34       records for those staff listed in the bullet points for

        35       those periods of time, people that had been identified as

        36       might have some involvement with the Tigris transaction.

        37

        38       Q.   Can I ask you why was it that the records for Mr Stott

        39       that were sought were sought only up to 6 March 1996?

        40       A.   I don't have any knowledge as to why that would be the

        41       case.

        42

        43       Q.   Can I ask as to you why it was in relation to Mr Hogan

        44       the emails that were sought ran only to 1999?

        45       A.   I can't explain why, but perhaps at a later stage

        46       during August those emails were obtained.  I could search

        47       the file and see whether they were subsequently requested,
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         1       because it's quite likely that they were.

         2

         3       Q.   Do you know whether market reports were obtained?

         4       A.   I would have to make inquiries about that, but I know

         5       specifically from the words on this record this is

         6       concerned with collecting emails from the archives system

         7       of the company.

         8

         9       Q.   But do you know whether market reports were obtained?

        10       A.   I don't know whether market reports were obtained, no.

        11

        12       Q.   Do you know whether trip reports were obtained?

        13       A.   I don't know in the box now, but I could cause a

        14       search to be undertaken as to whether they were obtained.

        15       The files - I do know that the files from the international

        16       sales and marketing team were obtained by Chris Quennell --

        17

        18       Q.   Paper files or electronic files, or both?

        19       A.   Paper files, and the paper files of the chartering

        20       division were obtained, but beyond that knowledge of the

        21       documents they obtained, I would have to get further

        22       information.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   I tender those two pages, Mr Commissioner.

        25

        26       EXHIBIT #417 FACSIMILE FROM ARNOLD BLOCH LIEBLER TO THE

        27       INQUIRY, DATED 22/2/2006, ATTACHING A COPY OF A FILE NOTE

        28       OF ROSEMARY PEAVY DATED 16/8/2004, BARCODED AWB.0280/0252

        29       AND AWB.0280.0253 RESPECTIVELY

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   I now have them barcoded AWB.0280.0252 and

        32       0253.

        33

        34       Q.   What was your association with Project Rose,

        35       Mr Cooper?

        36       A.   I commenced a review into allegations which were made

        37       in a letter from the US Wheat Associates to the

        38       US Secretary of State, Colin Powell, which was written

        39       dated 3 June 2003, and that letter was reported in the

        40       Australian media a couple of days later after its date and

        41       it caused a discussion by Andrew Lindberg with his

        42       executive, and I was requested around about 6 June to

        43       commence an inquiry into the matters raised in that letter.

        44

        45            That project subsequently was named later that year

        46       Project Rose.  The underlying project is still the same

        47       project, or the underlying inquiry, internally within AWB.
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         1       It was later named Project Rose, but it is the same

         2       inquiry.  That continued through.

         3

         4       Q.   It was initially, then, a review dealing with

         5       allegations made by US Wheat Associates in early 2003.  At

         6       some stage did it complete that inquiry?

         7       A.   No, it didn't complete that inquiry, because the

         8       subject matter has been so big that the project was always

         9       ongoing.

        10

        11       Q.   So the inquiry into the matters raised by the US Wheat

        12       Associates was never completed?

        13       A.   I don't believe so, no.

        14

        15       Q.   Were other things added to this inquiry after the

        16       letter of the US Wheat Associates?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   What other things were added to the inquiry?

        20       A.   In about May or June of 2004 AWB was contacted by

        21       staff members from Washington of the United States Senate

        22       Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations and they contacted

        23       AWB and explained that they were commencing an inquiry into

        24       AWB's involvement in the Oil-for-Food Program, and that was

        25       essentially on the same subject matter that had been

        26       investigated commencing in June 2003.  So that's an

        27       additional matter that began to be investigated.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   What was the subject matter?

        30       A.   The subject matter was all of the - all of AWB's

        31       dealings with Iraq during the operation of the Oil-for-Food

        32       Program.

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So what parameters did you place on the

        35       inquiry as at the time - as at May or June of 2004?

        36       A.   There weren't parameters in terms of limitations

        37       placed on the inquiry.  The issues that were raised were

        38       the underlying collection of information to understand the

        39       company's position and, secondly, the understanding of the

        40       requirement for AWB to be involved in an inquiry in the

        41       United States, which involved many, I would say, fairly

        42       complex legal issues, particularly over jurisdiction.

        43

        44       Q.   The underlying collection of information to understand

        45       the company's position, the company's position in relation

        46       to what?

        47       A.   The company's position in relation to all of the
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         1       contracts and the inland trucking component of those

         2       contracts dealing with the Oil-for-Food Program.

         3

         4       Q.   So may we take it, then, that as at May or June of

         5       2004 you set about compiling documents and information in

         6       relation to all of the contracts and the inland trucking

         7       component of those contracts?

         8       A.   I didn't set about it at that stage from afresh.  The

         9       inquiry into those matters had actually started in June

        10       2003, and it was commenced by Chris Quennell and, I

        11       believe, staff from his firm.

        12

        13       Q.   Well, was that inquiry expanded?

        14       A.   It expanded all the time through 2004.  What initially

        15       happened in June of 2003 was that Chris Quennell came in

        16       and took instructions and was told to undertake a review of

        17       all of the facts and his assessment of the allegations made

        18       by the US Wheat Associates, and he did that by obtaining

        19       email records and having them - he was put in direct

        20       contact with the information technology manager, he got

        21       paper files, he interviewed staff members and conducted

        22       quite a large review.

        23

        24       Q.   Is there a record of all the information that

        25       Mr Quennell accessed?

        26       A.   Chris Quennell would have a record, and there are

        27       documents on file that could be compiled together to piece

        28       together the information he obtained, but there's no -

        29       there was no brief given to him at the start that said,

        30       "Here is all of the information you're asked to review".

        31       Rather, it was the opposite; it was an open-ended

        32       instruction to him to come into the company and undertake

        33       this review and report back on his findings from time to

        34       time.

        35

        36       Q.   Do you know whether or not he was provided with all of

        37       the trip reports that had been compiled from the years 1999

        38       through to 2003?

        39       A.   I don't personally know whether he has all of the trip

        40       reports, because I personally didn't obtain the information

        41       for him.  I would have to ask him to tell me.

        42

        43       Q.   Do you know whether he was provided with copies of the

        44       market briefs in relation to Iraq?

        45       A.   Again, I don't know specifically whether he obtained

        46       the market briefs.

        47
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         1       Q.   In his interview with IIC investigators on 28 February

         2       2005, in your presence, at AWB.0002.0217, at 0223 - here

         3       I'm referring to the corrected or the red-lined summaries

         4       that were provided by the IIC.  The blank spaces reflect

         5       areas where the names of investigators have been removed.

         6       In the second-last paragraph it reads:

         7

         8            [The IIC investigator] said that it

         9            appeared that AWB had "dismissed" media

        10            reports that accused the company of

        11            engaging in sanctions-busting.

        12

        13       Then there's a comment that's been added.  "He" - the IIC

        14       investigator:

        15

        16            ...asked Lindberg what actions AWB had

        17            taken to determine if there existed any

        18            truth to these allegations.  Lindberg said

        19            that he had asked Cooper to conduct a

        20            "legal review" and that Cooper had

        21            assembled a team to look into the matter.

        22            The review, Lindberg said, had found

        23            nothing that would substantiate claims of

        24            fraud or corruption and had identified no

        25            payments to individuals in the Government

        26            of Iraq by AWB or vice-versa.  Lindberg

        27            said that AWB would "obviously" have been

        28            concerned had Cooper's team uncovered

        29            evidence of improper or unlawful conduct.

        30

        31       Now, Mr Cooper, do you agree with that summary?

        32       A.   Yes, I do.

        33

        34       Q.   Now, the weight of that comment can only be gauged if

        35       we know the detail of what it was that your legal review

        36       involved.  Are you in a position to disclose the nature and

        37       extent of the legal review that you undertook?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   He is not, insofar as it traverses legal

        40       professional privilege.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, our submission is that the

        43       statement to the IIC is a waiver of legal professional

        44       privilege in relation to the nature and scope of that legal

        45       review, given that the AWB has relied upon that legal

        46       review in the course of its responses to the IIC

        47       investigation.  I would ask my learned friend to consider
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         1       that submission, but I do not want to take up time now in

         2       ventilating it and taking argument on either side.

         3

         4       Q.   As you understand it, Mr Cooper, you're not allowed or

         5       permitted to divulge the nature and extent of the legal

         6       review that you conducted; do you understand that?

         7       A.   Can I just ask a question, I can't even give a general

         8       overview of that?

         9

        10       Q.   So we're told.

        11       A.   Because - oh.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, why isn't that a waiver given

        14       voluntarily or not in a non-compulsory process.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   Firstly, sir, because the notion of a waiver

        17       arising in such a circumstance is one which arises as a

        18       question of fairness in the course of adversarial

        19       proceedings.  The Maurice case, for example, discusses the

        20       way in which there is an implied waiver by a party relying

        21       upon the scope of some advice or the fact of advice in some

        22       way.  The basis for the implied waiver is that it is unfair

        23       in the adversarial process that the party not then be

        24       obliged to disclose what lies behind the reliance.  That

        25       doesn't apply here.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, no.  The inquiry being conducted by

        28       the United Nations was not an adversarial process.

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   Correct.  It's for that reason that it doesn't

        31       apply.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, so?

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   So the mere fact that Mr Lindberg, in the course

        36       of that investigation, speaks of the fact that an inquiry

        37       was undertaken, a legal review, and the outcome of that

        38       legal review, does not, in our submission, amount to a

        39       waiver of what is privileged within the review.

        40

        41            Were it the case that he gave such evidence in an

        42       adversarial proceeding, it may be different, but not in

        43       these circumstances.  It places it into quite a different

        44       category.  It's for that reason that, as a general

        45       proposition, in our submission, the concept of implied

        46       waiver resulting from unfairness that one has at litigation

        47       just doesn't apply here.  We would say that what
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         1       Mr Lindberg has said there has no impact on the protection

         2       of legal professional privilege.

         3

         4            What Mr Cooper is concerned about is something we can

         5       take up over lunchtime, because it may be that he can give

         6       a description without impinging on privileged

         7       communications, and the like.  We will address that matter

         8       and endeavour to provide some guidance so that he at least

         9       can - I know that he'll never satisfy the Commission's

        10       thirst for information, but at least it may go some way to

        11       provide some more information about the nature and scope of

        12       the inquiry.  Perhaps I can leave it at that and we can

        13       take it up after the luncheon adjournment.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Well, that's a matter I can discuss with my

        16       learned friend.  Is that an appropriate time,

        17       Mr Commissioner?

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  We'll adjourn until 2 o'clock.

        20       Will we continue with this witness this afternoon, or not?

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   It may be advisible, given other

        23       considerations, that we interpose Mr Rogers at 2 o'clock,

        24       because I'm certain we can complete Mr Rogers in the time

        25       available from 2 o'clock.  I wouldn't be certain that we

        26       could complete Mr Rogers if we waited until the end of this

        27       witness's evidence.  So if it's convenient to Mr Cooper at

        28       this particular time, we would be moving to interpose

        29       Mr Rogers at 2 o'clock.

        30

        31       MR CLELLAND:   Could I be heard on that, Commissioner?

        32       Matters of convenience for Mr Cooper or his legal

        33       representatives are relevant to that decision.  We would

        34       ask that Mr Cooper's evidence be concluded so that he might

        35       make his way back to Melbourne.  We understood that it was

        36       expected he would finish today.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand Mr Rogers is going

        39       overseas tomorrow, so there's a limited period of time.

        40       That's the problem, I think, is it, Mr Agius?

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Yes, we understand that Mr Rogers has for some

        43       considerable time booked and paid for an overseas trip and

        44       the date fixed with him and his legal counsel today was to

        45       take account of his imminent departure.  His evidence will

        46       be relatively short.  He has provided a supplementary

        47       statement responding to evidence given by Messrs Hogan,
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         1       Emons and Officer.  It really is a question of taking that

         2       statement and his evidence about it.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think we'll interpose Mr Rogers and

         5       we'll sit late, if need be, to try to finish Mr Cooper.

         6

         7       MR CLELLAND:   I'm grateful, Commissioner.

         8

         9       MR GREEN:  Mr Rogers is not going overseas tomorrow, he's

        10       going overseas early next week.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  We'll sort that out amongst

        13       counsel.

        14

        15       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        16

        17

        18

        19

        20

        21

        22

        23

        24

        25

        26

        27

        28

        29

        30

        31

        32
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   I recall Mr William Murray Rogers.

         4

         5       <WILLIAM MURRAY ROGERS, on former oath:      [2.02pm]

         6

         7       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Rogers, you are on your former

        10       oath.

        11

        12       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Rogers, the inquiry has received a

        15       further statement, a statutory declaration, from you, dated

        16       22 February 2006.  Could we bring up, please,

        17       WST.0011.0002.  Is that your further statutory declaration,

        18       Mr Rogers?

        19       A.   Yes, sir.

        20

        21       Q.   Are the contents of it true and correct to the best of

        22       your knowledge and belief?

        23       A.   Yes, they are.

        24

        25       EXHIBIT #418 STATUTORY DECLARATION OF WILLIAM MURRAY ROGERS

        26       DATED 22/2/2006, BARCODED WST.0011.0002

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Rogers, I don't propose to take you

        29       through that statement line by line - you can assume it is

        30       before the inquiry and it has been read - but I do want to

        31       take you back to your visit to Iraq in October of 1999.

        32       Could we bring up, please, exhibit 9 - AWB.5035.0337.  This

        33       is an email from Mr Hogan to Messrs Emons and Borlase, and

        34       Graham Owen.  The subject is "Iraq - FIT", which we take to

        35       mean free in truck.  I am not suggesting that you received

        36       this email, Mr Rogers, but it does refer to the discussions

        37       that were had with Zuhair in Iraq in October of 1999.  We

        38       have Mr Hogan's evidence that the matters that he refers to

        39       in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this email were matters that were

        40       discussed with Zuhair during the course of the negotiations

        41       that took place there, and we have evidence from him that

        42       you were present.  What is your position today?  Do you

        43       recall meeting with Zuhair during the course of the visit

        44       to Iraq in October 1999?

        45       A.   Yes, I did.  It was my first meeting there.

        46

        47       Q.   Do you recall being present when Mr Hogan was
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         1       conducting negotiations with him?

         2       A.   Not those discussions, no, I don't.

         3

         4       Q.   What do you say about Mr Hogan's evidence that you

         5       were present during the course of the discussions with

         6       Zuhair?

         7       A.   If I was present, I wouldn't have been - I wouldn't

         8       have been, what's the right expression, into the details of

         9       those discussions.  That was Dominic's job, and that was

        10       not what I was there for.

        11

        12       Q.   But you will recall, to put this in a chronology,

        13       in July, for the first time, the AWB was being asked to

        14       enter into a contract which included a term of "free in

        15       truck" and which, on its face, required delivery of the

        16       wheat to all governorates of Iraq?

        17       A.   I am aware of that now, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   You were not aware of that then?

        20       A.   I am aware that there was discussion about a change in

        21       the contract - yes, I was, but the specifics of it, no.

        22

        23       Q.   Is it that you can't remember the specifics, or you

        24       were not aware of them?

        25       A.   I don't think I was aware of the specifics.  There was

        26       no reason why I should be.  That was - people were to look

        27       after that.

        28

        29       Q.   Mr Officer says that he wouldn't have been able to

        30       enter into those contracts on his own authority because of

        31       the significant nature of the change that they required.

        32       The effect of his evidence is that he could have only got

        33       that authority from you?

        34       A.   I don't remember that discussion with Mr Officer on

        35       those specifics.

        36

        37       MR GREEN:   With respect, I think the evidence was that he

        38       could have only got it from this witness or the chairman.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Yes.  I apologise - from you or the

        41       chairman.  What do you say about that?  Do you say you

        42       never gave him that authority?

        43       A.   I don't remember giving him that authority,

        44       no - keeping in mind it is six and a half, seven years ago.

        45

        46       Q.   So it is a question of recollection for you?

        47       A.   It is recollection, but I don't remember it - I don't
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         1       remember doing it.

         2

         3       Q.   But you will agree that this was a significant change

         4       in the way in which the AWB was contracting with the

         5       Iraqis?

         6       A.   Yes, I would agree, and I think that's what I said

         7       when I was on the stand last time.

         8

         9       Q.   And a significant change which had financial

        10       implications for the AWB?

        11       A.   Financial implications for the AWB in the context of

        12       the change.

        13

        14       Q.   In the context of - I'm sorry?

        15       A.   A change as to the way a contract was done?

        16

        17       Q.   Yes.

        18       A.   Yes, I agree.

        19

        20       Q.   Is it not likely that you would have taken it upon

        21       yourself to become aware of what these changes were and

        22       what they meant for the AWB in your position as CEO?

        23       A.   I probably would have asked why those changes were

        24       there and then, if it was a change, it would have been

        25       incorporated into a contract.

        26

        27       Q.   Mr Hogan says, in substance, that in your presence and

        28       the presence of Mr Flugge he spoke with Zuhair about ways

        29       in which this $12 fee could be paid.  What is your evidence

        30       about that?

        31       A.   I don't remember that discussion.

        32

        33       Q.   So, if it took place, you didn't pay any attention to

        34       it?

        35       A.   I didn't pay any attention to it.

        36

        37       Q.   You see, the Commission - I will just put this to you

        38       for comment - is in this position:  Mr Hogan, Mr Emons and

        39       Mr Officer were all involved, in one way or another, in

        40       putting together a process to permit payments which had

        41       been required by the Iraqis to be made.  It seems that all

        42       three of them had concerns about the nature of this

        43       process.  Can you think of any reason why they would have

        44       not told you about their concerns and not told you about

        45       the process that they were putting together in order to

        46       deal with the concerns that they had?

        47       A.   I can't think of a reason why they wouldn't, because
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         1       if there had been a change to the contract, it would have

         2       had to have been approved eventually anyway.

         3

         4       Q.   There are two issues:  one was the imposition of the

         5       trucking charge, or the discharge fee, as it was in those

         6       first four contracts - three in July and one in October

         7       1999 - and that was disclosed on the face of the contracts,

         8       and that was always available for the UN to see.  The

         9       second issue is the mechanism for that payment, and, on the

        10       whole of the evidence, there is I think more than a strong

        11       inference that those three gentlemen at least were aware of

        12       difficulties with that process, and it seems that schemes

        13       were discussed as to how the Iraqis' condition might be

        14       met.

        15

        16       MR GREEN:   Can I ask my learned friend to clarify,

        17       discussed by whom?

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Between the marketing people and, if you

        20       accept their evidence, involving Mr Watson as well - not

        21       with you, but discussed amongst themselves - as to how that

        22       process might be undertaken.  Mr Officer is of the view

        23       that the material was discussed with you and/or Mr Flugge.

        24       Mr Emons was of the view that, given the nature of his

        25       discussions with Mr Officer, it was apparent to him that he

        26       had discussed it with you.  There is no apparent reason as

        27       to why you would have been excluded from those discussions,

        28       Mr Rogers, is there?

        29       A.   I'm - I can't recollect why there would be a reason

        30       I wasn't involved in those discussions, but I can't

        31       remember it being there.  If you - if I stand back and look

        32       at the people that you have just mentioned to me, that was

        33       their job to work those things up.  There should have been

        34       discussions.  They should have analysed all the aspects,

        35       all the various elements of it, and I would be disappointed

        36       if they didn't.

        37

        38       Q.   And it appears that they did.  The inference, however,

        39       from the evidence is that you were at least informed that

        40       they had this difficulty with the process and that you were

        41       informed as to the method that they proposed to follow to

        42       undertake the process.  Your best answer to that is that

        43       you don't remember ever being informed of that?

        44       A.   I think I have made a comment in the statutory

        45       declaration - the second statutory declaration.  I have

        46       memories of discussions about changes to the contract.  I

        47       have memories about those sorts of things, but I don't have
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         1       any specifics, and that would have been the sort of thing

         2       that these guys were working on --

         3

         4       Q.   You say in your statement --

         5       A.   -- for development to put in the final contract.

         6

         7       Q.   But the mechanism was never disclosed in the contract,

         8       and it is the mechanism that I am asking you about.

         9       A.   Okay.  I'm not aware of the mechanisms.  It is the

        10       contracts that I had at the back of my mind when I answered

        11       your question.

        12

        13       Q.   You do say in paragraph 4 of your second statutory

        14       declaration:

        15

        16            Although I continue to have no specific

        17            recollection of being involved in any

        18            discussions about Iraq land transportation

        19            issues, I do recall logistical challenges

        20            being discussed both in Melbourne and

        21            during my trip to Iraq in October 1999.

        22

        23       What logistical challenges were you referring to?

        24       A.   It was the logistical challenges, from memory -

        25       I think I remember Dominic talking about issues of not

        26       being able to find enough transportation to get the wheat

        27       from the wharf - it was things like that.

        28

        29       Q.   But the AWB was never concerned to find transportation

        30       to get the wheat from the wharf?

        31       A.   No, but it does hold up unloading - it did hold up

        32       unloading of ships, and I think that's where it was coming

        33       from.

        34

        35       Q.   At that time, though, as at October 1999, there is no

        36       reference in any of the documentation about ships being

        37       held up because of the unavailability of trucking.

        38       A.   That's why I come back to it is a long time ago, I

        39       can't remember all those specifics, but I do distinctly

        40       remember some conversations about logistics while we were

        41       in Iraq.

        42

        43       Q.   Were those logistics the logistics of making a payment

        44       to the Iraqis and finding a method to do that without

        45       exciting the interests of the United Nations?

        46       A.   No, those comments about logistics of moving the

        47       grain - actually moving grain; physical things.
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         1

         2       Q.   The difficulty with that is that AWB never contracted

         3       with Alia or with anybody else to move the grain from the

         4       dock to anywhere in Iraq.  That's the first difficulty.

         5       Secondly, it would seem that those at the coalface never

         6       believed that AWB had a practical responsibility to move

         7       that grain.  If that's right - and I suggest to you that

         8       that's the only conclusion available on the available

         9       evidence - why would there be any discussions about the

        10       logistics of moving grain from the port?

        11       A.   Let me backtrack one moment, if I may.  When I say

        12       "discussions", I'm talking about my recollections of that

        13       meeting, particularly whilst we were in Iraq.  It was

        14       talking about movement of grain within Iraq.  That's what

        15       I have got at the back of my mind about logistics.

        16

        17       Q.   Do you remember Zuhair saying that the president had

        18       issued an edict to all ministers bringing product into

        19       Iraq, that the suppliers must pay US$12 before a ship

        20       arrived?

        21       A.   No, I don't - no recollection at all.

        22

        23       Q.   Do you recollect Zuhair saying that the president had

        24       said that if the $12 had not been paid before the ship

        25       arrived the vessel would not be unloaded?

        26       A.   No.  No, no recollection of that either.  In fact, my

        27       recollection of the actual meeting at which we were in the

        28       minister's office was we didn't get into the details.

        29

        30       Q.   Mr Hogan says that he protested to Zuhair about being

        31       required to prepay this amount of money, given that the AWB

        32       had to wait so long for payment in any event, and that he

        33       protested about weight discrepancies.  You have no

        34       recollection of that?

        35       A.   No, I don't remember any of those discussions.

        36

        37       Q.   Let me see if I can help you.  One of the effects of

        38       the new requirements was that calculations were going to be

        39       done not on the basis of the load weight but on the basis

        40       of the discharge weight, and there were no facilities for

        41       AWB to check the discharge weight, and this was the first

        42       time in the history of AWB that they were reliant upon a

        43       calculation of the discharge weight before all of the

        44       accounting could be completed.  There is one other

        45       component which was very important, and that is that the

        46       $12 fee that was being demanded was going to be calculated

        47       on the load weight and not on the discharge weight.  This
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         1       was all new, so far as the employees of AWB were concerned,

         2       and it gave them all anxiety - that is, the ones who were

         3       concerned in the contracts.  So it would seem natural that

         4       Mr Hogan might protest about that when he spoke to Zuhair,

         5       in the interests of AWB.  Do you still say you can't recall

         6       any such discussion?

         7       A.   No, I definitely cannot remember that discussion.

         8       That's not to say it didn't happen, as I think I have

         9       mentioned in the past, I just cannot remember.  I didn't

        10       focus on that.

        11

        12       Q.   Might it be that at the time you were simply not

        13       cognisant of the fact that the payment of money to the

        14       Iraqis was something that was outside the UN sanctions and

        15       that was a breach of UN sanctions?

        16       A.   I don't believe that at all.

        17

        18       Q.   You were cognisant of that?

        19       A.   That would definitely not have been on my mind - no,

        20       not at all.  There was no reason why it would be.

        21

        22       Q.   I think there are some double negatives there.  Do you

        23       mean that you were cognisant of the fact that the sanctions

        24       prevented payment of money by the AWB to the Iraqis, or you

        25       were not cognisant of that?

        26       A.   I wasn't cognisant of that.  There is no reason why

        27       I would be at that stage.

        28

        29       Q.   No reason why you would have some understanding of the

        30       sanctions that applied to the shipments of grain and the

        31       contracts for the shipment of grain from AWB to the Iraqis?

        32       A.   I had a basic understanding of the contracts and a

        33       basic understanding of what the sanctions were.  Other

        34       people managed all of those processes.

        35

        36       Q.   I am not suggesting to you that this was the case, but

        37       I am offering you this for your comment:  might it be that

        38       you were not aware that the AWB could not make payments to

        39       the Iraqis without being in breach of the sanctions, and

        40       that, because you were not aware of that, you didn't pay

        41       any attention to conversations on that topic between

        42       Mr Hogan and Mr Zuhair?

        43       A.   Well, the first point is I don't remember the

        44       discussions, and, secondly, I probably - I wouldn't have

        45       focused on that.

        46

        47       Q.   Ought you not to have been aware that the sanctions
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         1       prevented AWB from making payments to Iraq or to an Iraqi

         2       entity?  Ought that not to be something of which you were

         3       aware, given your position in 1999 at AWB?

         4       A.   It was something I probably should have been aware of,

         5       but I don't remember the context of all this.

         6

         7       Q.   I suppose there are a number of possibilities, two

         8       which present themselves for debate - one, you were aware

         9       that the AWB was proposing to make payments which could

        10       amount to a breach of sanctions and you condoned it or

        11       sanctioned it; or, two, you were aware that they were going

        12       to make those payments, but you weren't aware that they

        13       might involve a breach of sanctions.  Have you any comment

        14       to make on that?

        15       A.   I have no comment to make on that.  I remember when -

        16       and I don't remember the sequence, but I remember - I

        17       remember when the contracts were changed.  That was the

        18       reason we sought approval from people in Canberra, to find

        19       out if that was correct, and my recollection is that, once

        20       that was done, it was - the business was done.

        21

        22       Q.   So did you ever turn your mind to the difference

        23       between a contract which disclosed on its face a liability

        24       to pay discharge costs of up to US$12 a tonne - between

        25       that situation and the situation for the mechanism of that

        26       payment?

        27       A.   No, I don't.

        28

        29       Q.   You never turned your mind to that difference?

        30       A.   No, not that I recollect, no.

        31

        32       Q.   You see, there isn't any doubt that the United Nations

        33       approved four contracts which contained a term requiring

        34       the seller, in this case the AWB, to pay discharge costs of

        35       up to US$12 a tonne - that's a fact that is apparent on the

        36       face of the approved contracts.  But what is also seemingly

        37       apparent on the basis of all of the evidence that we have

        38       is that the UN were never informed as to the mechanism of

        39       that payment, and certainly were never informed that that

        40       payment was proposed to be made in US dollars to an Iraqi

        41       entity.  Did you ever turn your mind to that problem?

        42       A.   No, I never turned my mind to that problem, and - no.

        43       The answer is no, I didn't.

        44

        45       Q.   And what do you say to the suggestion that we have in

        46       the evidence to date that that was the very problem that

        47       you would have been consulted on and that you were
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         1       consulted on?

         2       A.   Well, I do not remember being consulted on that very

         3       point, because that would have caused me concern.

         4

         5       Q.   You say in paragraph 6 of your statement, which is on

         6       page 2 - 0003:

         7

         8            I refer to paragraph 33 of Exhibit 230 --

         9

        10       which I think was Mr Officer's statement?

        11       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        12

        13       Q.

        14            It is true that Mr Officer kept me informed

        15            in a general way about the state of AWB's

        16            relationship with the IGB and how the AWB

        17            was dealing with its requirements.  I was

        18            aware that there was a transport fee

        19            although the figure was something of which

        20            I was unaware.

        21

        22       When you say that Mr Officer kept you informed in a general

        23       way about the state of AWB's relationship, would you

        24       concede that in the course of those discussions he kept you

        25       informed of the way in which the AWB was making the payment

        26       in relation to the transport fee?

        27       A.   I don't remember that discussion.

        28

        29       Q.   You go on to say:

        30

        31            I was, however, unaware that a transport

        32            fee was a front for a kickback or bribe to

        33            the IGB.

        34

        35       Were you aware that the transport fee, as you call it, or

        36       the discharge cost, as it was called in the contracts, was

        37       something that had been imposed by the IGB?

        38       A.   I understand we were requested to include that and it

        39       was seen - I think it was called an inland transport fee,

        40       and I was aware of that, and that was included in the

        41       contract.

        42

        43       Q.   Were you aware that there was a prospect at that time

        44       that that fee was going to find its way to the Iraqis?

        45       A.   No - no reason why I would.

        46

        47       Q.   Were you aware that that fee was going to be paid to a
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         1       trucking company registered in Jordan?

         2       A.   No.  I wasn't aware of that either.

         3

         4       Q.   Were you aware that in fact that was how the payment

         5       was made - that is, it was made to a trucking company in

         6       Jordan?

         7       A.   I am now aware of that, because of transcripts and

         8       things I have read since I appeared here before --

         9

        10       Q.   Of course.

        11       A.   -- but I wasn't then.

        12

        13       Q.   Were you aware of that whilst you were working at the

        14       AWB?

        15       A.   No, I don't believe so, no.

        16

        17       Q.   Now, upon reflection, were you ever aware that Ronly

        18       was used as a conduit for the payments to the Jordanian

        19       trucking company?

        20       A.   No, I am not aware of that.  I don't remember that.

        21       My recollection of Ronly, I think, is as I have recorded

        22       and spoke of last time I was here.

        23

        24       Q.   You have had no further recollection about that?

        25       A.   No further recollection of that.

        26

        27       Q.   May I take it that you have followed the evidence in

        28       relation to that?

        29       A.   Yes, I have followed the evidence and I have read a

        30       lot of the transcripts, and I saw those documents and I was

        31       quite - I wasn't aware of it.

        32

        33       Q.   You were surprised to hear about it?

        34       A.   Surprised, I suppose, is the word, yes.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Rogers, what did you think was

        37       the purpose of your going on the trip to Iraq in 1999 -

        38       October 1999?

        39       A.   My main purpose, Commissioner, was I had a limited

        40       knowledge of doing business in Iraq, full stop.  I had

        41       never been to Iraq.  I had concerns - we were having, and

        42       I think I stated this last time, a milling - a technical

        43       crew there.  We had people going in and out of Iraq, and

        44       all I had ever read was how difficult it was, one, to do

        45       business there, and, two, not exactly the safest place.  So

        46       that was one of my prime reasons for going there, having

        47       responsibility for people's well-being.  Thirdly, to
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         1       actually be there when this actual technical conference was

         2       on, because it was seen as a major thing by the Iraqis that

         3       were involved in the milling, and thus the chairman and

         4       I went with Dominic Hogan to there, but it was coupled up

         5       with a visit also to the Sudan, and the chairman and

         6       Dominic Hogan went on to Turkey after that.  So it was kind

         7       of a round visit to cover a lot of different issues.  But

         8       I had a very ignorant knowledge of doing business in Iraq

         9       and I found it, well, educational.

        10

        11       Q.   Were you intending to retire from the company at that

        12       time?

        13       A.   My retirement was - I think I might have even been in

        14       informal discussions then.  My contract would have finished

        15       about probably six months later and already we were talking

        16       about what was going to happen in the future, but at that

        17       stage they were very informal discussions.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Rogers, if you were aware that the

        20       Iraqis had required the payment of up to US$12 a metric

        21       tonne on account of transport fee or discharge costs, would

        22       not your natural approach lead you to the inference that

        23       that money was going to the Iraqis?

        24       A.   I don't think - I don't think it was, but I - on

        25       reflection, I can't remember how it all kind of came out.

        26       I think - my nature is I'm a delegator, okay, and once a

        27       task is given to an individual or a group of people,

        28       I would take on board - they are experts on that particular

        29       part of the world in doing business, and I would have taken

        30       it on board they would have managed it.

        31

        32       Q.   So are you saying that you would not have taken any

        33       interest in whether the money was going to the Iraqis or

        34       not?

        35       A.   No, I wouldn't have at that stage.  It was - well, it

        36       was a contract for people to do things.

        37

        38       Q.   And does your evidence go this far - that even if an

        39       AWB employee who you regarded as having capacity, such as

        40       Hogan or Emons or Officer, had told you straightout, "We're

        41       paying this $12 a metric tonne to the Iraqis", you wouldn't

        42       have thought anything of it?

        43       A.   I would have asked what it was for, and what was the

        44       background to it, but it would have been in general

        45       discussions.  I would have taken on board their advice on

        46       how to handle it.

        47
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         1       Q.   And even if they had said to you, "Look, the Iraqis

         2       have asked us for $12 a metric tonne, they say it is for

         3       discharge or transport fee, and we are going to pay $12 to

         4       the Iraqis", you wouldn't have objected to that or had any

         5       concern - given your state of knowledge at the time?

         6       A.   Given my state of knowledge at the time, if that was

         7       coming forward as a request, and it was included in a

         8       contract, I would have accepted it.

         9

        10       Q.   Would you agree that that indicates a far from perfect

        11       understanding of the requirements of the UN sanctions?

        12       A.   Not if it was approved.

        13

        14       Q.   The mechanism for payment of the discharge cost was in

        15       fact never approved.  Do you appreciate that?

        16       A.   I am hearing that from you now, but at that time

        17       I would have thought it was.

        18

        19       Q.   I am really just probing your state of knowledge of

        20       the sanctions and how they were understood by you to

        21       operate in 1999 and early 2000.  If you were told simply,

        22       "The Iraqis have required us to pay $12 a metric tonne on

        23       account of trucking fees or discharge costs, there is a

        24       term in the contract which says we have to pay $12 a metric

        25       tonne on account of trucking fees or discharge costs, and

        26       we're going to pay that money in US dollars to the Iraqis",

        27       it would not have taken your attention as being anything

        28       that was outside the sanctions?

        29       A.   I don't think so, as long as it was approved - and you

        30       are saying it is not approved, but I was under the

        31       impression it was.

        32

        33       Q.   As long as the contract was approved?

        34       A.   Sorry?

        35

        36       Q.   As long as the contract was approved?

        37       A.   As long as the contract was approved.

        38

        39       Q.   Now, can I ask you to turn your mind to early 2000 and

        40       the query that was raised through AusAID and DFAT, a

        41       complaint having been made by a third party, which we now

        42       know to be Canada, suggesting that the AWB was making

        43       payments to the Iraqis which were in breach of the

        44       sanctions.  Have you given that matter thought since you

        45       were last here?

        46       A.   I have given a lot of matters some thought since I was

        47       here last time.  I have a memory of somebody talking about
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         1       that, and I have it in my mind that it was one of many

         2       comments or rumours that we used to hear from competitive

         3       countries and traders, but I remember - my memory is that

         4       it was a comment that came through perhaps our New York

         5       office, and I remember that just after that there was a

         6       delegation, of which I was not one, that went to the US,

         7       and I think it was all - I never heard much more about it.

         8

         9       Q.   Well, we know that Mr McConville and Mr Flugge and

        10       Mr Snowball met with Alistair Nicholas at the Australian

        11       embassy in early 2000 - and may I take it you have read the

        12       evidence of Mr Snowball in relation to this?

        13       A.   I haven't read the evidence in the last couple of

        14       days, but I have an appreciation of it.

        15

        16       Q.   And we know that, as a result of inquiries that were

        17       made, the standard terms and conditions upon which the AWB

        18       contracted with Iraq were provided to the United Nations.

        19       Were you aware of that?

        20       A.   The standard terms and conditions were provided?

        21

        22       Q.   Yes.

        23       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        24

        25       Q.   Did you, during that period of time, discuss with

        26       Mr Flugge the nature of the complaint that had been made?

        27       A.   I may have - there may have been informal - we used to

        28       often meet before he went overseas or I went away, and we'd

        29       have a ranging discussion about many things.  I don't

        30       remember the specifics of that, no.

        31

        32       Q.   What about after he returned from the United States?

        33       A.   I don't remember that either, to be honest.

        34

        35       Q.   Do you recall any inquiries being made within the AWB

        36       office in Australia as to whether or not the AWB was in

        37       fact making payments to the Iraqis --

        38       A.   No, I don't recollect --

        39

        40       Q.   -- in terms of the complaint?

        41       A.   I don't remember anything like that.

        42

        43       Q.   So if inquiries were made, you were not involved in

        44       them?

        45       A.   If I was involved, I don't remember them, so it

        46       either, one, didn't cross my desk, or other people were

        47       looking at it.
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         1

         2       Q.   It is not likely that Mr Flugge would have dealt with

         3       such a serious matter without reference to you, is it?

         4       A.   He did deal with some matters, but he would have

         5       referenced it to me at some stage.  We used to have, when

         6       he was - as I said, back from a trip, etc, we would have

         7       some discussions about a range of things, but I don't

         8       remember specifically talking about that issue.

         9

        10       Q.   Finally, Mr Rogers, you have said you have thought of

        11       a number of matters since you were last here.  Is there any

        12       additional matter that touches upon the evidence that you

        13       gave last time or either of your statements that you wish

        14       to draw attention to?

        15       A.   No, I guess the only statement I would probably make

        16       is I've found myself trying to remember lots of things that

        17       happened a long time ago and have some difficulty with

        18       that.  I have no records of all those things.  I have

        19       really nothing else to add.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, that completes my examination

        22       of Mr Rogers.  In ordinary circumstances I would ask that

        23       Mr Rogers be released from his notice, but I am aware that

        24       there is a likelihood that we might get some additional

        25       information, which may or may not touch upon Mr Rogers, and

        26       so for that reason I would ask that he not be released from

        27       his notice, but I expect that there is only a very small

        28       prospect that we will require him back.

        29

        30       MR GREEN:   I request that Mr Rogers be excused from

        31       attendance for the time being, Commissioner.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you have any questions of him?

        34

        35       MR GREEN:   No questions arising.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   No.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else have questions for

        42       Mr Rogers?

        43

        44       MR EVANS:   I have, Mr Commissioner.

        45

        46

        47



            .23/2/06 (33)              3277     W M ROGERS (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       <EXAMINATION BY MR EVANS:

         2

         3       MR EVANS:   Q.   Mr Rogers, I appear for Mr Officer, do you

         4       understand?

         5       A.   Mmm-hmm.

         6

         7       Q.   Have you had access to or read Mr Officer's

         8       supplementary statement, exhibit 230 in these proceedings?

         9       A.   Yes, I have.

        10

        11       Q.   And you are aware that in that Mr Officer says that

        12       part of his duties were to report to you, as his immediate

        13       superior?

        14       A.   Yes, I have.

        15

        16       Q.   And you are aware that Mr Officer says that, given his

        17       reporting to you, he believes that he told you about the

        18       general proposal to use intermediaries to pay the transport

        19       costs and that you raised no objection?

        20       A.   I read that in that document, but I cannot remember

        21       him doing that.

        22

        23       Q.   Is your evidence that you cannot recall that happening

        24       because of the passage of time or the lack of specifics, or

        25       do you wish to convey to this inquiry that that did not

        26       happen?

        27       A.   That's - I guess you have given me three options

        28       there.  I am not looking for options, but I cannot remember

        29       those discussions taking place.

        30

        31       Q.   By that answer are you saying that because of the

        32       passage of time you don't remember such a conversation, or

        33       are you saying that, given its subject matter, had it

        34       happened, you would recall it?

        35       A.   Well, first of all, it is six, seven years ago, and,

        36       once again, I don't have any documentation.  I used to have

        37       ad hoc meetings with Nigel Officer on a reasonably regular

        38       basis, and I'm sure we talked about Iraq and many other

        39       markets, but I do not remember the specifics of those

        40       discussions.

        41

        42       Q.   From that answer I take it that, notwithstanding your

        43       absence of memory, you are not prepared to say that what

        44       Mr Officer says did not take place, are you?

        45       A.   I wouldn't form it in that - in those exact words, no.

        46       I think that's a little strong.

        47
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         1       Q.   You have been asked questions by Mr Agius about what

         2       has been described as the unique change in contracts --

         3       A.   Mmm-hmm.

         4

         5       Q.   -- in July 1999 up to the time of your departure?

         6       A.   Correct.

         7

         8       Q.   And one of the effects of those changes in contracts

         9       was the inflation of selling prices - do you accept that?

        10       A.   In the contracts --

        11

        12       MR GREEN:   Could I ask my learned friend to clarify which

        13       period he is directing that question to, back in 1999 or

        14       since then?

        15

        16       MR EVANS:   Q.   In July 1999 there were three contracts

        17       with Iraq that were the first three contracts that effected

        18       this unique change, weren't there?

        19       A.   Mmm-hmm, from what I remember, yes.

        20

        21       Q.   And the selling price had been altered or inflated to

        22       take into account what you told us today, what you

        23       understood to be the IGB imposed an inland transport fee -

        24       do you recall giving that evidence earlier today?

        25       A.   They are in the contracts, yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Do you recall giving evidence earlier today that you

        28       understood the IGB had imposed an inland transport fee and

        29       that was included in the contract?

        30       A.   That was in the contracts, and I have seen those

        31       contracts since I was here last time.

        32

        33       Q.   But you understood, during the course of your

        34       employment, that the IGB had imposed an inland transport

        35       fee, didn't you?

        36       A.   Yes, it is in the contract.

        37

        38       Q.   And the reason it is in the contract was it was

        39       imposed by the IGB - you understood that and knew that

        40       during the course of your employment, didn't you?

        41       A.   That was part of the contract.

        42

        43       Q.   Did you understand my last question, sir?

        44       A.   I am sorry, I am not picking up what you are driving

        45       at.

        46

        47       Q.   Let me put it to you again.  You understood, during
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         1       the course of your employment, that the reason that was in

         2       the contract was because it had been imposed on the AWB by

         3       the Iraqi grains board, didn't you?

         4       A.   Yes, and it was included and agreed to in the

         5       contract.

         6

         7       Q.   And that imposition added to the selling price the

         8       precise amount of the imposition imposed by the IGB, didn't

         9       it?

        10       A.   I can't --

        11

        12       MR GREEN:   My learned friend keeps referring to the word

        13       "imposition".  The witness hasn't accepted that

        14       description, he has said it is the subject of the contract.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I think he did accept it.  Yes,

        17       Mr Evans, you go on.

        18

        19       MR EVANS:   Q.   The addition to the selling price was

        20       precisely the amount that you understood the IGB had

        21       imposed for inland transport - as an inland transport fee,

        22       wasn't it?

        23       A.   To distribute the grain internally in Iraq.

        24

        25       Q.   The amount by which the selling price was inflated was

        26       precisely the amount which you understood had been imposed

        27       by the IGB as an "inland transport fee" from your earlier

        28       evidence today, and you knew that during the course of your

        29       employment, didn't you?

        30       A.   Yes, I did, and I have admitted that, but it was for

        31       transportation of grain from the port.

        32

        33       Q.   And you were aware, were you not, that payments were

        34       made from AWB bank accounts to give effect to that imposed

        35       amount back to either an Iraqi company or a third party,

        36       once the money was received from the UN escrow account,

        37       weren't you?

        38       A.   Can you ask me that again, I'm sorry?

        39

        40       Q.   You were aware during the course of your employment

        41       that payments were made from AWB bank accounts equivalent

        42       to the inflated part of the contracts - I'm talking about

        43       the three contracts in July 1999 - back to an

        44       Iraqi-nominated entity, weren't you?

        45       A.   But that was part of the contract.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, is the answer to my question yes, sir?
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         1       A.   Well, if it is in the contract, I can't say anything

         2       else but yes.

         3

         4       Q.   It is not your evidence, is it, that this inflation of

         5       the price and its inclusion in those contracts - I'm now

         6       talking about the July contracts - and the rebate or the

         7       remission back to an Iraqi-nominated entity from moneys

         8       received from the escrow account was something that

         9       Mr Officer did on his own authority absent your knowledge

        10       or yours and Mr Flugge's knowledge and authority?

        11       A.   Well, if it was in the contracts, everybody knew about

        12       it.

        13

        14       Q.   So it was - "everybody", you include yourself?

        15       A.   Yes, because I can't say anything else, can I?  It is

        16       in the contract.

        17

        18       Q.   And it being in the contract, to give effect to that

        19       contract, money had to come out of AWB bank accounts to be

        20       paid back to the Iraqi-nominated entity, didn't it?

        21       A.   Yes, well, if it is in the contracts, it gets paid.

        22

        23       Q.   And you were aware, were you not, that in November

        24       1999 a sum of $504,000, less a 10 per cent retention sum,

        25       was paid to that Iraqi-nominated entity, weren't you?

        26       A.   I'm not aware of the amount, or anything like that.

        27

        28       Q.   Did you not become aware of the payments of amounts

        29       equivalent to the inflated aspect received from the escrow

        30       accounts to the Iraqi-nominated entity during the course of

        31       your employment?

        32       A.   All I would be aware of is what is in the contracts.

        33       There was no - other people managed all that once it has

        34       been signed.

        35

        36       Q.   As the CEO of AWB up until, let me say, April 2000, do

        37       you say you were unaware of payments made from AWB bank

        38       accounts to the Iraqi-nominated entity for the inland

        39       transport fee component of those contracts?

        40       A.   I'm not sure what you are driving at here.

        41

        42       Q.   Don't worry about what I am driving at.

        43       A.   Well, I have got to make sure I understand what you

        44       are driving at before I answer your question.

        45

        46       Q.   All right.  Do you not understand that last question?

        47       A.   Your question was - to me, once the contract is
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         1       signed, it then goes into the system and other people

         2       manage it.

         3

         4       Q.   Did you not become aware, as CEO of AWB up until,

         5       say, April 2000, of payments from AWB bank accounts to the

         6       Iraqi-nominated entity in respect of an inland transport

         7       fee?

         8       A.   I'm aware that there's an inland transport - there was

         9       an inland transport component in those contracts.  I'm

        10       aware that those contracts were processed within the AWB.

        11       I'm aware that those contracts were - I was aware that when

        12       the changes happened, as I've answered previously - when

        13       those changes happened, they were sent to Canberra for

        14       approval, and after that they were in the system for people

        15       to manage.

        16

        17       Q.   You are not suggesting, are you, that Mr Officer, or

        18       he with Mr Emons and/or Mr Hogan, arranged this means of

        19       dealing with Iraq absent knowledge or authority by you, are

        20       you?

        21       A.   I'm not suggesting --

        22

        23       MR GREEN:   There are about five questions there, in

        24       fairness to the witness.  I ask Mr Evans to break them

        25       down.

        26

        27       MR EVANS:   Q.   You are not suggesting in your

        28       supplementary statement that Mr Officer was engaged in some

        29       process of dealing with the Iraqis absent authority or

        30       knowledge of yourself, are you?

        31       A.   I'm not suggesting that at all.  Once it is in the

        32       contract, everybody in the company would know.  How do we

        33       pay the bills?

        34

        35       Q.   You are not suggesting, are you, that Mr Officer

        36       engaged in the course of conduct that he describes in his

        37       supplementary declaration, exhibit 230, without reference

        38       to you at all, are you?

        39       A.   I don't think I'm saying that at all.

        40

        41       Q.   And you are not suggesting, are you, that the means or

        42       methods employed to give effect to those contracts by

        43       Mr Officer were without authority or consent or knowledge

        44       of his superiors in the corporate hierarchy, are you?

        45       A.   Not only his superiors, but I'm suggesting people like

        46       the chief financial officer would have known.  Nobody can

        47       process things without everybody knowing.  It was for a
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         1       land transport fee.

         2

         3       Q.   But the payment to the Iraqi-nominated entity could

         4       not have been made without the knowledge and consent and

         5       authority of a wide number of people superior to, in the

         6       corporate hierarchy, Mr Officer; would you accept that?

         7       A.   Well, there was only two people in the hierarchy above

         8       him, and that's myself and our board.

         9

        10       Q.   All right.  Well, then, in relation to those two

        11       people, would you accept that proposition, that what

        12       Mr Officer did - and to the extent that his marketing desk

        13       people did it - in relation to the matters you have been

        14       given evidence about was done with the knowledge and

        15       consent and authority of the two peoples, yourself and the

        16       board, superior to them in the corporate hierarchy?

        17       A.   But --

        18

        19       Q.   Do you accept that or not?

        20       A.   Well, I'm not sure of the basis of why you are asking

        21       me the question.  It is a legitimate - if it is a

        22       legitimate transportation fee, why would we be trying to

        23       hide anything?

        24

        25       Q.   Well, whether it is legitimate or not, what Mr Officer

        26       did, and in the matters that you have seen he has given

        27       evidence about, was done with the knowledge and consent and

        28       authority of the people - you have identified yourself and

        29       the board - superior to him in the corporate hierarchy; do

        30       you accept that or not?

        31       A.   Well, it stands to reason.  I'm not sure why we are

        32       pursuing that.

        33

        34       Q.   Well, do you accept it or not?

        35       A.   I accept it, but why are we pursuing it?

        36

        37       MR EVANS:   Thank you.  I have got no further questions.

        38

        39       MR GREEN:   Nothing arising, Commissioner.

        40

        41       MR CARTER:   I am sorry, Mr Commissioner, I missed the boat

        42       but there was just a short matter on behalf of Mr Snowball.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        45

        46

        47
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         1       <EXAMINATION BY MR CARTER:

         2

         3       MR CARTER:   Q.   Mr Rogers, I appear with Mr Forrest on

         4       behalf of Mr Snowball who, as you are aware, was a young

         5       fellow back in 2000 managing the New York office.  He had a

         6       good reputation within the organisation, didn't he?

         7       A.   Well, we had - he had a very, very good reputation and

         8       I'm the guy that talked him into taking the job.

         9

        10       Q.   I understand that, Mr Rogers, and part of that

        11       reputation was - it is important, in considering his

        12       position in that role, to appreciate that dealing with

        13       anything to do with trucking terms was an incredibly small

        14       part of that job, wasn't it?

        15       A.   I would say incredibly small.

        16

        17       Q.   The giving of evidence - and I mean this with respect,

        18       sir - in an inquiry of this nature for a person in your

        19       position is obviously a difficult and stressful experience?

        20       A.   Oh, you are asking me?

        21

        22       Q.   Yes.

        23       A.   Well, of course it is and it is very frustrating,

        24       because I can't remember that fact.

        25

        26       Q.   Well, Mr Snowball got clobbered around the ears for

        27       the better part of a day for his lack of recollection about

        28       matters.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's a comment which is unnecessary.

        31       Just ask the question, please.

        32

        33       MR CARTER:   The transcript will bear it out nonetheless,

        34       Mr Commissioner.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Please ask the question.

        37

        38       MR CARTER:   Yes.  I will be quick, Mr Commissioner.  I am

        39       sorry about that.

        40

        41       Q.   You were asked by Mr Agius, at the bottom of

        42       page 3275:

        43

        44            Now, can I ask you to turn your mind to

        45            early 2000 and the query that was raised

        46            through AusAID and DFAT...

        47
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         1       about a complaint by a third party.  You were aware that

         2       the New York office would not communicate directly with

         3       DFAT Canberra, weren't you?

         4       A.   I think I was.  I don't - I'm pretty sure of that.

         5       That's probably correct.

         6

         7       Q.   I can probably finish up this way --

         8       A.   Yes, because we had a relationship with people in the

         9       US.  Tim may not have had a deep relationship then, because

        10       he had only just arrived.

        11

        12       Q.   That's right.  In fairness to you, Mr Rogers, your

        13       recollection of that period is very shaky indeed, isn't it?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   That's a "yes"?

        17       A.   That's a yes.

        18

        19       MR CARTER:   Thank you very much, sir.

        20

        21       MR GREEN:   There is nothing arising.  May Mr Rogers be

        22       excused on the basis --

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are there any questions, Mr Agius?

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Nothing, thank you, Mr Commissioner.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   How long will you be away

        29       overseas?

        30       A.   I get back on 12 March.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I won't excuse him at this stage.

        33

        34       MR GREEN:   No, on the basis that my learned friend

        35       indicated.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  It is unlikely you will be

        38       required further, Mr Rogers, but I can't formally release

        39       you.  If there are any further requirements, it will be by

        40       arrangement.

        41

        42       THE WITNESS:   I would like to record my appreciation for

        43       bringing me forward, actually.  It is a boring subject,

        44       Mr Agius, but it is our 25th wedding anniversary and it is

        45       pre-paid, so thank you.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   Have a nice anniversary.
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         1

         2       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Might we return to Mr Cooper?

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   It might be convenient if I address a matter

         7       before Mr Cooper resumes.  It concerns the Project Rose

         8       claim for legal professional privilege, sir.

         9

        10            What we say about that is this, and I will try to be

        11       brief.  The claim is maintained.  What was said by

        12       Mr Lindberg to the IIC and reported in the summary of

        13       evidence does not and cannot constitute a waiver.  First of

        14       all, Mr Lindberg is not the owner of the privilege.

        15       Secondly, insofar as that kind of communication may

        16       otherwise constitute a waiver, it is limited in scope to

        17       the response to a question concerning the media reports,

        18       and you, Commissioner, will recall that other witnesses

        19       have been asked about the letter from Wheat Associates

        20       which seems to be the topic under consideration.  Third, as

        21       foreshadowed --

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am sorry, I am not sure I follow your

        24       last point.

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   Mr Lindberg's disclosure, if it be a material

        27       one, was only in relation to so much of the legal review as

        28       related to the response to the Wheat Associates letter -

        29       that seems clear enough from the context and terms of the

        30       summary.  The investigator said:

        31

        32            ...it appeared that AWB had "dismissed"

        33            media reports that accused the company of

        34            engaging in sanctions-busting.  He asked

        35            Lindberg what actions AWB had taken to

        36            determine if there existed any truth to

        37            these allegations.  Lindberg said that he

        38            had asked Cooper to conduct a "legal

        39            review" and that Cooper had assembled a

        40            team to look into the matter.  The review,

        41            Lindberg said, had found nothing that would

        42            substantiate claims of fraud or corruption

        43            and had identified no payments to

        44            individuals in the Government of Iraq by

        45            AWB or vice-versa.

        46

        47       So whatever may otherwise be said about that passage
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         1       constituting a waiver, it would not, in our submission,

         2       extend beyond so much of the review as related to the

         3       response to those media reports and that letter.

         4

         5            But, more particularly, as foreshadowed before lunch,

         6       it is our submission that a waiver of this kind only

         7       applies in the case of unfairness in litigation.

         8       I mentioned in that context the case of Maurice.  We don't

         9       have our usual resources available to us by reason of our

        10       location in a different place - we don't have our chambers

        11       libraries, and the like - but I have obtained access to

        12       Maurice.  I refer, Commissioner, to that case which is

        13       reported at volume 161 of the Commonwealth Law Reports,

        14       page 475.  It was decided in 1986.  You, sir, will be well

        15       familiar with it.  It is a decision of the High Court.

        16       There are various passages in it to that effect.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Just give me a reference to them, if

        19       you would.

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   It is 161 CLR at 475.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, the passage is at?

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   The particular passage that I have identified

        26       over lunch is at 482, the passage of the then Chief Justice

        27       Gibbs, and he is referring to a case of General Accident

        28       Corporation v Tanter, a decision of Justice Hobhouse, and

        29       he says this at the bottom of page 482:

        30

        31            Hobhouse J held that it was only where

        32            privileged material was adduced in evidence

        33            by the party to whom privilege attached

        34            that the waiver extended to related

        35            material. He said that "the underlying

        36            principle is one of fairness in the conduct

        37            of the trial and does not go further than

        38            that".

        39

        40       And he distinguishes some American authorities where the

        41       principle is extended beyond fairness in trial.  That is

        42       consistent also with the views expressed by the learned

        43       author of the Law of Privilege - McNicol.  We were able to

        44       obtain a copy of the second edition from the local Law

        45       Society library, and I refer to page 27, where there is a

        46       discussion to like effect.  It is our submission, sir,

        47       therefore, that the principle of waiver that my learned
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         1       friend advanced does not apply, and that the usual

         2       principles applicable to legal professional privilege cover

         3       the Project Rose investigation.

         4

         5            Now, I did come across in Maurice this general passage

         6       which, in our submission, is pertinent to the claim of

         7       legal professional privilege.  It is a short one, and I

         8       will draw it to your attention, sir.  It is in the judgment

         9       of his Honour Deane J, as he then was.  He says this at

        10       page 490:

        11

        12            That general principle --

        13

        14       and he is referring to legal professional privilege --

        15

        16            is of great importance to the protection

        17            and preservation of the rights, dignity and

        18            freedom of the ordinary citizen under the

        19            law and to the administration of justice

        20            and law in that it advances and safeguards

        21            the availability of full and unreserved

        22            communication between the citizen and his

        23            or her lawyer and in that it is a

        24            precondition of the informed and competent

        25            representation of the interests of the

        26            ordinary person before the courts and

        27            tribunals of the land.  Its efficacy as a

        28            bulwark against tyranny and oppression

        29            depends upon the confidence of the

        30            community that it will in fact be enforced.

        31            That being so, it is not to be sacrificed

        32            even to promote the search for justice or

        33            truth in the individual case or matter and

        34            extends to protect the citizen from

        35            compulsory disclosure of protected

        36            communications or materials to any court or

        37            to any tribunal or person with authority to

        38            require the giving of information or the

        39            production of documents or other

        40            materials....The right of confidentiality

        41            which the principle enshrines has recently,

        42            and correctly, been described in the

        43            European Court of Justice as a "practical

        44            guarantee" and "a necessary corollary" of

        45            "fundamental constitutional or human

        46            rights"....Indeed, the plain basis of the

        47            decision of the majority of this Court in
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         1            Baker v Campbell was the acceptance of the

         2            principle as a fundamental principle of our

         3            judicial system...Like other traditional

         4            common law rights, it is not to be

         5            abolished or cut down otherwise than by

         6            clear statutory provision.  Nor should it

         7            be narrowly construed or artificially

         8            confined.

         9

        10       Now, I did mention, I think it was yesterday, that the

        11       position in Victoria was different.  I didn't mean to

        12       convey that, had this Commonwealth inquiry been conducted

        13       in Victoria, it would have been different.  What is

        14       different is that in Victoria there has been a statutory

        15       abrogation for commissions of inquiry conducted in that

        16       State.  The Commonwealth has seen fit not to amend its

        17       legislation so as to abrogate the right in relation to

        18       Commonwealth inquiries, and that, sir, we say is a clear

        19       indication that the Commonwealth intends that, in this kind

        20       of proceeding, the principles as enunciated by Deane J, as

        21       he then was, be given full force and effect.

        22

        23            Now, in relation to Project Rose, we would envisage

        24       that our learned friend can enquire as to the various

        25       phases of Project Rose, which he has already commenced to

        26       do.  He may inquire who was involved - that is, solicitors,

        27       paralegals, and the like.  He may inquire as to the scope

        28       of the investigation - that is, the scope of the searches

        29       that were undertaken.  He may inquire of what persons

        30       interviews were conducted by the lawyers appointed.  He can

        31       inquire as to whom the results of the investigation were

        32       communicated, and he can also inquire as to what was

        33       published to third parties - for example, insofar as

        34       material was published or told to Volcker or the IIC.

        35       Beyond that, in our submission, the cloak of legal

        36       professional privilege would prevent his investigation, and

        37       an investigation by this authority, into what is a plainly

        38       privileged occasion.  Thank you, sir.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   That's not a matter upon which we seek a

        41       ruling, Mr Commissioner.  I don't wish to engage in a

        42       debate about it, but I am grateful for the indication that

        43       my friend has given as to the position of AWB.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        46

        47
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         1       <JAMES MacGREGOR COOPER, on former oath:          [3.05pm]

         2

         3       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS CONTINUING:

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Cooper, I was asking you about Project

         6       Rose.  You have heard the submissions of my learned friend?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   The purpose of my questions is not to attempt to go

        10       behind the claim of legal professional privilege, so would

        11       you bear that in mind when you are responding?

        12       A.   Yes, I will.

        13

        14       Q.   You have told us that Project Rose commenced in 2003

        15       in relation to the claim by the US Wheat Associates, and

        16       that in early 2004 it expanded to incorporate a response to

        17       the IIC inquiry; is that a fair description of Project

        18       Rose?

        19       A.   No, no, it is not.  In the intervening period, in

        20       about May or June of 2004, it was actually the permanent

        21       subcommittee on investigations of the US Senate, the staff

        22       of which contacted AWB, and that continued through

        23       to December of 2004, when almost at the same time as the

        24       PSI, as we call it, finished the Volcker investigation

        25       contacted AWB and it continued through, as you know,

        26       until October, when this inquiry was announced.

        27

        28       Q.   Does it exist today?

        29       A.   Does Project Rose exist today?

        30

        31       Q.   Yes.

        32       A.   No.  No, when this inquiry was announced, the work on

        33       Project Rose was changed to another project, named

        34       Project Lilac, but essentially the same underlying

        35       investigations that have been conducted all the way through

        36       since June of 2003 have formed the basis of all of the work

        37       on this matter.

        38

        39       Q.   Now, when you briefed Mr Quennell in relation to

        40       Project Rose, did you give him a written brief to commence

        41       with back in 2003?

        42       A.   No, he did not have a written brief.

        43

        44       Q.   How did you define his brief?  How did you define the

        45       work that he was to do?

        46       A.   I believe, from my records, that we asked him to come

        47       into the company, and we met with him, we gave him the copy



            .23/2/06 (33)              3290     J M COOPER (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       of the US Wheat Associates letter, and he was at that

         2       stage, in the middle of 2003, very familiar with AWB's

         3       international trade matters, as he had worked on matters

         4       since early 2001, basically handling nearly all of AWB's

         5       chartering matters and also international trade matters.

         6       So he would have been involved in dozens of files up to

         7       that date.

         8

         9            So because he was familiar with the nature of AWB's

        10       business, he was asked to come in, and we basically

        11       identified with him all of the sources of information that

        12       he would need to go to to begin an investigation into the

        13       basis of the allegations in the US Wheat Associates letter,

        14       and that included names of people that he needed to talk

        15       to, it involved electronic records that he was to source,

        16       which was a very big source of information that he

        17       continued to review for the remainder of 2003, and he was

        18       put directly in touch with AWB's information technology

        19       manager for that.  He actually took all of the hard copy

        20       files from the - the Iraq hard copy files from the

        21       international sales and marketing division, and there would

        22       be other sources of information that he would have been

        23       directed to as part of that inquiry.

        24

        25       Q.   How can we get an accurate record of the sources of

        26       information that he was directed to in 2003?

        27       A.   That could be compiled from notes in notebooks and

        28       also from his own records that he kept, the bills that he

        29       rendered, and also the files - the hard-copy paper files

        30       that the company commenced keeping when this project

        31       started.

        32

        33       Q.   Well, did he, for example, exercise access to any Iraq

        34       trip reports that had been prepared since 1 July 1999 until

        35       early 2003?

        36       A.   I don't - I can't tell you specifically now, but if

        37       they were stored in the - if they had been communicated by

        38       email or if they were stored in the international sales and

        39       marketing division files, or if they had been provided to

        40       him by the staff, then he - there is a good possibility

        41       that he received those reports.

        42

        43       Q.   Well, there are a lot of "ifs "and "ors" there.  Do we

        44       know whether or not he exercised any access to the Iraq

        45       trip reports dated from July 1999, or mid 1999, through to

        46       early 2003?

        47       A.   I personally don't know the answer to that now, but we
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         1       could make an inquiry of that.

         2

         3       Q.   Do you know whether he exercised access to all of the

         4       emails that have been provided to this inquiry?

         5       A.   He accessed initially all of the emails, I believe,

         6       from the files that I reviewed, all of the emails from 1999

         7       to 2000 for a list of people - a list of staff members in

         8       the international sales and marketing team who were dealing

         9       with the Iraq market, and then he expanded that later.

        10       That was in June of 2003.  And then later, in early 2004,

        11       I understand from reviewing the bills that he rendered for

        12       that work in preparing for this inquiry that he expanded

        13       the review of emails from later years - 2001 and 2002.  So

        14       I expect that there is quite an overlap with the emails

        15       that have been provided to this Commission, although I do

        16       know this Commission - the emails provided here involve a

        17       lot more people than the staff members that Chris initially

        18       inquired into.

        19

        20       Q.   Did he exercise access to the Iraq market briefs that

        21       have been provided to this inquiry?

        22       A.   I don't know whether he specifically accessed those.

        23       I would have to actually make that inquiry of him.

        24

        25       Q.   There is an Iraq trip report dated February 2001,

        26       compiled by Mr Hogan and Mr Borlase, in which the authors

        27       express a reservation about an increase in the trucking fee

        28       and a calculation of 10 per cent for a service fee.  Are

        29       you familiar with the particular trip report?

        30       A.   No, I'm not.

        31

        32       Q.   I will have it brought up for you.  Could we bring up,

        33       please, AWB.0102.0250.  It is confidential exhibit 57C.  We

        34       have an edited copy of it as exhibit 381.  Could we go to

        35       page 0253.  Do you know whether he exercised access to this

        36       trip report, including the paragraph that you see there

        37       under the heading "Trucking Fee/Services Fee"?

        38       A.   I have no knowledge as to whether he looked at that

        39       document.  I'm not disputing that he did, it is just that

        40       I delegated the review of the materials to him.

        41

        42       Q.   You are not disputing that he did, but you don't know

        43       whether he did or not?

        44       A.   No.  That's - that is correct.  I don't.

        45

        46       Q.   Have you seen this trip report before today?

        47       A.   I can't recall seeing this trip report before today.
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         1

         2       Q.   Do you see it records in this paragraph:

         3

         4            We believe the increase in trucking fee and

         5            the addition of the service charge is a

         6            mechanism of extracting more dollars from

         7            the escrow account.

         8

         9       Do you say that prior to today you were not aware of that

        10       statement in this trip report which dates from February

        11       2001?

        12       A.   No, I didn't say that.  You asked me had I seen it -

        13       had I reviewed this document, and I said no.  Was I aware

        14       of that statement?  I could have been informed of that

        15       statement as part of the legal reports that Chris Quennell

        16       issued from time to time.

        17

        18       Q.   Does that mean you could have and you could not have?

        19       What do we understand by you could have been informed?

        20       Were you informed or not?

        21       A.   I --

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   He can't say whether he was informed by

        24       Mr Quennell.  He can be asked whether he knew and when.

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Yes.  I was staying away from what

        27       Mr Quennell had told you.  I'm falling into the hole you

        28       dug for me, Mr Cooper.  Can you please just restrict

        29       yourself to your knowledge of the material?  Were you

        30       informed that Mr Hogan and Mr Borlase had expressed the

        31       concern that I have just read to you from this trip report?

        32       A.   Separate to the legal review, I was not informed of

        33       this concern in this trip report.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you ever cause any inquiries to be made - leaving

        36       aside the legal review - to find out what lay behind the

        37       sentence that I read to you from this report?

        38       A.   No, because it was being reviewed in the legal review.

        39

        40       Q.   Do you know whether or not the statement that I read

        41       to you, the concern about the increase in the trucking fee

        42       and the addition of the service charge of 10 per cent, or a

        43       service fee of 10 per cent - do you know whether that

        44       concern was ever brought to the attention of Mr Lindberg

        45       before he was interviewed by the IIC investigators

        46       in February of 2005?

        47       A.   As to specifically whether that line was brought to
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         1       Mr Lindberg's attention, I cannot say, although he did

         2       receive very regular briefings of the legal review.

         3

         4       Q.   Well, I am not going to the legal review.  Do you know

         5       whether the substance, as opposed to specifically that

         6       line, of what is expressed in this section of the trip

         7       report was ever brought to Mr Lindberg's attention before

         8       he was interviewed by the IIC investigators?

         9       A.   Can I just clarify that you are not asking me about

        10       whether that was done by the legal review?

        11

        12       Q.   You are not allowed to tell us.

        13       A.   But the difficulty --

        14

        15       Q.   We are not allowed to know whether or not the legal

        16       review ever saw this document and, if they did, what

        17       investigations they conducted in relation to it, because of

        18       the claim that has been made.  I am just asking you,

        19       putting that aside, are you aware as to whether or not

        20       Mr Lindberg was informed of the substance of the material

        21       that I read to you from this trip report?

        22       A.   No, I am not aware.

        23

        24       Q.   Mr Cooper, were you aware as to whether or not the

        25       legal review was broad enough in scope to investigate how

        26       it came about that the clause in the contract referring to

        27       the payment of a discharge fee of up to US$12 per metric

        28       tonne was not referred to in any contract after October of

        29       1999?

        30       A.   I am sorry, that's a very long question and I have

        31       just forgotten the first half of it.  I do understand the

        32       second half about that clause not being in the contracts

        33       after the first four, but what was the first part?

        34

        35       Q.   Are you aware as to whether or not the legal review

        36       was broad enough in scope to investigate that matter?

        37       A.   Yes, I am aware of that.

        38

        39       Q.   Do you know whether it did?

        40       A.   Yes, it did.

        41

        42       Q.   Do you know whether the scope of the legal review was

        43       broad enough to investigate the explanations for the

        44       increase in transport fee from US$12 to something over

        45       $40 --

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   -- in the period?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Do you know whether the legal review that was

         5       conducted was broad enough to investigate the method of

         6       calculation of the transport fee and the imposition of a

         7       service charge of 10 per cent, or a service fee of

         8       10 per cent?

         9       A.   It was broad enough to incorporate the calculation of

        10       the trucking fees.

        11

        12       Q.   Was it broad enough to incorporate the investigation

        13       of the circumstances in which 10 per cent had been added to

        14       the FIT value of the contract by way of a service fee?

        15       A.   It was broad enough to know of the 10 per cent

        16       increase in the trucking fees, but it didn't, to my - to

        17       the best of my knowledge, it didn't know of the terminology

        18       "service fee".

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   Mr Cooper should not, in our submission,

        21       disclose the findings of the investigation.  I understand

        22       my friend is not asking him that question, but it seems

        23       that he is resorting to do that.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I am asking you about the breadth of the

        26       scope of the review.  You know how broad the review was

        27       designed to be and how broad it was in scope.  Did that

        28       scope include a capacity to investigate the circumstances

        29       in which a 10 per cent service fee had been imposed by the

        30       Iraqis?

        31       A.   Yes, it was broad enough to investigate that.

        32

        33       Q.   Did it investigate that?

        34       A.   Yes, it did.

        35

        36       Q.   Was it broad enough to investigate the substance of

        37       Mr Long's memorandum of 2004 in which he passed on the

        38       query from the office of the coalition protection authority

        39       concerning the reduction of contract prices by 10 per cent?

        40       Are you aware of that email --

        41       A.   I am.

        42

        43       Q.   -- the one which commences "Don't let DFAT know you

        44       know"?

        45       A.   Is it possible to put the email up on the screen,

        46       please?

        47
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         1       Q.   Yes.  I will have that brought up and come back to it.

         2       Mr Cooper, did you learn at some stage that 49 per cent of

         3       Alia was owned by an Iraqi instrumentality?

         4       A.   Yes.  I was informed of that.

         5

         6       Q.   When were you informed of that?

         7       A.   At some stage before we briefed the board at the end

         8       of May 2004 I was informed of that through the legal

         9       review.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you tell the board that?

        12       A.   Yes, we did at that May presentation.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   That's May of 2004?

        15       A.   May of 2004.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you at some stage learn that Ronly had been paid a

        18       commission of US 20 cents per tonne for acting as a conduit

        19       for payments of amounts of money on account of inland

        20       transport to Alia?

        21       A.   I can't say that I was very familiar with that part of

        22       the review.

        23

        24       Q.   Do you understand that I am not allowed to know what

        25       you learnt as a result of the review.  As I have said to

        26       you more than once, these questions are all based upon your

        27       knowledge aside from what you learnt in the course of the

        28       review.

        29       A.   Can I just say that I didn't specifically, as general

        30       counsel, and having a large legal team in-house and a large

        31       panel of outside lawyers - and, as I said this morning, at

        32       any one time there could be a thousand active matters -

        33       I didn't actively get involved in advising international

        34       sales and marketing on their Iraq contracts, completely

        35       separate to oil-for-food.  So all of my knowledge about

        36       this particular subject matter necessarily was obtained

        37       through this review, and I'm not meaning to be difficult,

        38       but this is the dilemma I have in answering these

        39       questions.

        40

        41       Q.   So you say that all of the information that you

        42       obtained was as a result of this review that was conducted

        43       by Mr Quennell; is that right?

        44       A.   Yes.  It was one of the biggest - it is the biggest

        45       legal matter that we've had since really the middle of 2003

        46       onwards, apart from the acquisition of the Landmark

        47       business from Wesfarmers.
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         1

         2       Q.   Mr Cooper, far from this being a legal review, wasn't

         3       this a factual review that was being conducted by a lawyer?

         4       A.   Not just a lawyer, over time it expanded to include

         5       lots of people - lots of lawyers.

         6

         7       Q.   Of course.  I don't imagine that Mr Quennell sat there

         8       to read thousands and thousands of emails himself but was

         9       this, in essence, a factual review being conducted by, if

        10       you like, a team of lawyers at Mr Quennell's direction?

        11       A.   It was - yes, that's correct, in order for them to be

        12       able to then advise on the position of the company,

        13       particularly initially in relation to the allegations in

        14       the US Wheat Associates letter and then, subsequently, as

        15       the permanent subcommittee investigation commenced in the

        16       United States, to advise in relation to that to.

        17

        18       Q.   To advise on what?  To advise on what the documents of

        19       AWB disclosed as a matter of fact, or to give legal advice

        20       on what the consequences of those facts were?

        21       A.   Both.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   But doesn't it necessarily follow,

        24       from what you have said, that the legal questions to be

        25       addressed were not known until the factual issues had been

        26       determined?

        27       A.   Commissioner, that - very early on in the piece

        28       in June, we identified the broad legal issues that could be

        29       raised by these facts, and so in June of 2003 we knew the

        30       overall legal headings, if you like, that we needed to

        31       research, such as the UN sanctions and whether they had

        32       been complied with, the foreign corrupt practices

        33       provisions in the Commonwealth Criminal Code, and they were

        34       the main provisions that we focused on, and as, over time,

        35       the review of the facts was undertaken, we eventually built

        36       to obtaining advice of senior counsel in May.  He was

        37       briefed in early May and he advised in late May, and that

        38       same senior counsel has continued to advise on this matter

        39       through the whole matter.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So at least one part of this "legal

        42       review" was designed to gather together all of the

        43       documents, being AWB documents, which would disclose

        44       relevant facts?

        45       A.   Yes.  Initially it was email records and paper files,

        46       and then, in about March and April and then continuing

        47       throughout all of 2004, there were interviews undertaken of
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         1       all of the personnel, the current employees, that added

         2       to - and they were questioned specifically on the

         3       documents --

         4

         5       Q.   You are not allowed to tell us what the conversations

         6       were between persons who were interviewed and the legal

         7       review team.  Given that that was the scope of the legal

         8       review that had been undertaken, when you accompanied

         9       Mr Lindberg to the interview by the IIC investigators, were

        10       you surprised that, when Mr Lindberg was asked if AWB was

        11       aware of the possibility that money it had provided to Alia

        12       had been channelled to the government of Iraq, Mr Lindberg

        13       had said that to his knowledge AWB was unaware of that?

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   I object, sir.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Well, that was either a lie or it was a

        18       statement indicating Mr Lindberg's ignorance.

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   I object, sir.  The objection is that what my

        21       friend is, in his ingenious way, endeavouring to do is to

        22       elicit from this witness the results of the investigation

        23       and compare those with what Mr Lindberg says.  As

        24       attractive as that process may be to the forensic desire of

        25       my friend, in our submission it traverses the issue of

        26       legal professional privilege in a very real way.  We object

        27       to it on that basis and say that the answer should not be

        28       given.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   What do you say, Mr Agius?

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   I will withdraw the question.  That wasn't my

        33       purpose, but I can find a better way to put that question,

        34       which will address my learned friend's anxiety.

        35

        36       Q.   Mr Cooper, you knew, didn't you, from sources other

        37       than the Quennell legal review, that from as early as

        38       mid-2003 the United Nations were interested in the issue as

        39       to whether or not contracts for the supply of humanitarian

        40       goods to Iraq had been artificially inflated?

        41       A.   I can't say that I did know that.

        42

        43       Q.   What, you didn't read newspapers?  You were not aware

        44       of the substance of the Volcker Inquiry?

        45       A.   The Volcker Inquiry hadn't started until - it wasn't

        46       commissioned until May 2004.

        47
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         1       Q.   Yes.

         2       A.   Didn't you say the middle of 2003?

         3

         4       Q.   Not only in 2003, I said from 2003.

         5       A.   I genuinely was not aware of those allegations until

         6       it was raised by the US Wheat Associates letter.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   That was June 2003.

         9       A.   Yes, yes, Commissioner.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So you were aware of allegations from June

        12       2003 that the AWB's contracts for the supply of wheat to

        13       Iraq contained inflated prices for the wheat - you were

        14       aware of that?

        15       A.   Well, that is not an accurate statement of my

        16       knowledge, or summary, if you like.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you settle the reply to Mr Tracy, the president of

        19       US Wheat Associates - that is, the reply that was sent to

        20       him on 12 June 2003 by AWB?

        21       A.   I wouldn't have settled it myself.  It is possible

        22       that Chris Quennell settled it.

        23

        24       Q.   Did you see it?

        25       A.   Could you show me a copy of it, please?

        26

        27       Q.   Yes.  Can you recall whether you saw it or not?

        28       A.   I can't recall whether I saw that letter.

        29

        30       Q.   Can we bring up AWB.0214.0001.  This is exhibit 88, as

        31       I understand it.  Did you see that letter in or about June

        32       of 2003?

        33       A.   It is possible that I did see that letter, yes.  I

        34       can't recall it now, because there has been so much on this

        35       matter since then, but it is very possible.

        36

        37       Q.   Well, let's deal with it this way, Mr Cooper, and see

        38       if this refreshes your recollection.  Project Rose was set

        39       up to deal with the very complaint that this letter is a

        40       response to, wasn't it?

        41       A.   Yes, we had set it up six days before that, on 6 June.

        42

        43       Q.   In those circumstances, doesn't it follow as a matter

        44       of certainty, given your association with Project Rose,

        45       that you would have seen this letter at about the time that

        46       it was drawn up and sent to Mr Tracy at the US Wheat

        47       Associates?
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         1       A.   Yes.  Yes, I agree with that.

         2

         3       Q.   So may we take it, then, that as of 12 June 2003 - and

         4       I won't hold you to the precise day - you were aware of

         5       allegations that AWB contracts had had inflated prices in

         6       them?

         7       A.   I was aware of that allegation, yes.

         8

         9       Q.   You were aware of allegations that the AWB was

        10       overcharging for wheat?

        11       A.   Yes, that was the wording, I think, in the Tracy

        12       letter.

        13

        14       Q.   And you were aware of allegations that money had found

        15       its way from AWB to the regime in Iraq?

        16       A.   No, no, I - at that stage, six days into the inquiry,

        17       we very much had not established that fact.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, allegations.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Allegations - I trust it wasn't a fact in

        22       your knowledge at 12 June 2003, was it, that AWB had

        23       forwarded money to the Iraq regime?

        24       A.   No, it was not.

        25

        26       Q.   It is an allegation.  You were aware of that

        27       allegation, weren't you?

        28       A.   I am sorry, can you - which allegation?

        29

        30       Q.   An allegation that AWB money had found its way to the

        31       Iraqi regime?

        32       A.   Yes, that - yes, that was in the Tracy letter as well.

        33

        34       Q.   And you were aware of a call by the US Wheat

        35       Associates that the AWB needed to explain about the who,

        36       what, where and why, and how much was involved in their

        37       negotiations with Saddam's regime?  Were you aware of that?

        38       A.   Yes, I was aware of that.

        39

        40       Q.   So you were aware from June of 2003 of the general

        41       issue as to whether or not the AWB contracts for the supply

        42       of wheat to Iraq had contained inflated prices?

        43       A.   Yes, I was aware of those allegations.

        44

        45       Q.   And did you subsequently become aware of AWB documents

        46       which indicated that 10 per cent had been added to the

        47       price of contracts for the supply of wheat at the
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         1       insistence of the IGB?

         2       A.   Inevitably I am going to get into trouble answering

         3       this question, because I have to answer it as a result of

         4       the legal review.

         5

         6       Q.   Well, can you explain, then, Mr Cooper, how it was

         7       that the IIC was not told that the AWB had been required by

         8       the IGB to include 10 per cent in its contracts for the

         9       sale of wheat on top of the FIT value and to pay that to

        10       the IGB?  Can you explain why it was that the IIC was not

        11       given that information in February of 2005?

        12       A.   They asked Andrew Lindberg the question directly and

        13       he gave them the answer that he knew.  Apart from that, I

        14       can't answer why they weren't told.

        15

        16       Q.   But you knew, didn't you?

        17       A.   I knew of --

        18

        19       Q.   I don't want to know the source, but you knew?

        20       A.   I knew that - well, I --

        21

        22       Q.   You knew that the Iraqis had insisted on the inclusion

        23       of 10 per cent on the FIT value of the contract and that

        24       they had required that money to be paid to them?

        25       A.   No, no, that wasn't how the - it was the

        26       10 per cent --

        27

        28       Q.   Let me break it up, then.

        29       A.   Mmm.

        30

        31       Q.   You knew that the Iraqis had required 10 per cent to

        32       be added to the value of the contract.

        33       A.   That became apparent about - later in 2004, when we

        34       were doing the review.

        35

        36       Q.   As at February 2005 you knew that, though, didn't you?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   And you sat beside Mr Lindberg and you heard the

        40       investigator say to him that the IIC had spoken with

        41       Mohamed Nsayif, the Director-General of Planning and

        42       Follow Up at the Ministry of Transport and that Nsayif had

        43       said that no company had been exempt from paying a

        44       10 per cent kickback to the government of Iraq, and when

        45       asked to comment, you heard him say - that is,

        46       Mr Lindberg - that he could not comment as he had no

        47       knowledge on the issue; you heard him say that?
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         1       A.   I believe I heard him say that.  I would have - I was

         2       there as a note taker, and --

         3

         4       Q.   Well, you can't take notes if you are not listening,

         5       can you?

         6       A.   Yes, exactly.

         7

         8       Q.   You heard him say that?

         9       A.   I heard him say that.  As to what period of time - I

        10       know there was an issue with the interviewer as to when

        11       Andrew became aware of that fact.

        12

        13       Q.   Mr Lindberg says he had no knowledge of that issue.

        14       He doesn't admit to knowing it at any time.  Can we bring

        15       it up - AWB.0002.0224.  This is the corrected version of

        16       the summary, the second-last paragraph.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, I do want to rise at this stage

        19       perhaps to flag the general concern we have about the

        20       inquiry pressing on into this area, which involves the

        21       information given to the IIC and ultimately the letter

        22       which was written by Mr Lindberg, signed by Mr Lindberg and

        23       Mr Stewart, to the IIC in October.  Our concern is that, of

        24       course, the terms of reference make clear that the subject

        25       matter of this inquiry is into the conduct described in the

        26       Volcker Report, and one would suppose that ordinarily the

        27       inquiry would look at that conduct, examine it in this

        28       proceeding, and decide whether it involved any breach of

        29       Australian law, and that is, for example, the conduct

        30       involving the presentation of contracts, the mode of

        31       payment and the kinds of issues that are live issues in

        32       this investigation up until the end of the Oil-for-Food

        33       Program, and perhaps the completion of contracts 1670 and

        34       1680.

        35

        36            Insofar as the inquiry moves beyond that, in our

        37       submission great care has to be exercised --

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't think we are going beyond that;

        40       I think we are going before that, aren't we?  Aren't we now

        41       addressing a point of time earlier?

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   No, this is 2005.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, February 2005, and the Volcker

        46       Report is October 2005.

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   Yes, the conduct, however, referred to in the

         2       Volcker Report is the conduct in relation to the payment of

         3       what are described as, in a colloquial term, kickbacks to

         4       the Iraqi government through inland transport, and, on any

         5       view, those or related matters - and one can well

         6       understand how Tigris might be a related matter - are over

         7       by the end of towards the end of 2004, when those

         8       contracts, the last two contracts, are executed.

         9

        10            To move beyond into an examination of the conduct of

        11       officers of the AWB in relation to its responses to the

        12       Volcker Inquiry, whether or not they were full and frank in

        13       their interviews with the Volcker Inquiry, an examination

        14       as to whether the letter that was sent was consistent with

        15       the state of knowledge that they had, in our submission is

        16       not sufficiently connected with the terms of reference to

        17       justify the extension of the investigation into those

        18       matters.

        19

        20            Now, we do understand that a Commission of inquiry

        21       such as this may examine matters that are relevant to its

        22       reporting on the terms of reference, so it is not confined

        23       in the sense in which parties in a legal proceeding might

        24       be confined by pleadings.  Nevertheless, to examine these

        25       matters to ascertain the correctness, unless it goes to a

        26       question of the credit of a particular witness, in our

        27       submission is beyond the reasonable scope of the inquiry.

        28

        29            Mr Lindberg has been examined about these matters.

        30       Mr Lindberg had certain documents put to him, and it was

        31       suggested to him that his knowledge was different to that

        32       which was exposed in these particular summaries of

        33       evidence, and it may be said that that's a matter that is a

        34       legitimate inquiry because Mr Lindberg's knowledge and

        35       participation in the Oil-for-Food Program was being tested.

        36       But to have this witness examined as to his state of

        37       knowledge at the same time as Mr Lindberg is giving his

        38       evidence is, in our submission, not to the point.  It

        39       doesn't assist the inquiry in a material respect.  It may

        40       give rise to, perhaps, a comment about the appropriateness

        41       of Mr Cooper sitting beside him with knowledge derived from

        42       a legal review and not tapping Mr Lindberg on the shoulder

        43       and saying, "Now, look, that's not right".  In our

        44       submission, that goes beyond what is the reasonable scope

        45       of the inquiry, and we are concerned about the duration of

        46       this inquiry and, in our submission, it ought to be

        47       confined as tightly as possible, and reasonably possible,
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         1       to the legitimate boundaries.

         2

         3            We have not understood the Commission to want to

         4       extend beyond those legitimate boundaries, and the terms of

         5       reference don't, in our submission, authorise that, and we

         6       fear that we are getting into an area that perhaps does

         7       stray into a different and separate examination of issues

         8       which are not authorised and are not reasonably connected

         9       to assist in the express terms.

        10

        11            That's our concern, sir.  We don't want to hold

        12       matters up any longer, but I have noticed the way this

        13       examination is going, and we would ask, sir, that, perhaps

        14       not necessarily now, the inquiry be scoped so as to prevent

        15       it straying, if you like, into areas of Mr Cooper's

        16       knowledge about what Mr Lindberg might have said, and the

        17       like.  It is not relevant.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, I have always thought that it

        20       would be necessary for this inquiry to consider the

        21       accuracy of what AWB and its officers told the United

        22       Nations, both in the statements they gave to them when they

        23       were asked what their knowledge was, and in relation to the

        24       response which was given by AWB and which is included in

        25       the Volcker Report; namely, the letter of 25 October 2005.

        26       That seems to me to fall fairly and squarely within the

        27       terms of reference.

        28

        29            Secondly, it seems to me that these questions go very

        30       much, and very directly, to the issues of credit which

        31       I must examine.  There may be other aspects, I haven't

        32       asked Mr Agius to respond to what you have said, but if

        33       there is any doubt about the scope of the terms of

        34       reference, we should clarify that at a very early stage.

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   Yes.  In our submission, sir, we understood that

        37       the relevance of the letter of the 25th, to take an

        38       example, which you have identified, sir, was that what was

        39       said there - I think Mr Agius opened this - didn't sit well

        40       with what Mr Lindberg ought to have known or was said to

        41       have known because of documents that were to be put to him

        42       and were indeed put to him during the course of his

        43       examination.  So, in those circumstances, it can be said

        44       that it was put to Mr Lindberg as a credit issue, on the

        45       basis that "You said this but in fact you knew that", "You

        46       said A and you knew B".  We would contend, sir, that an

        47       examination into whether or not the United Nations
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         1       investigator was in some way misled, deliberately or

         2       otherwise, by the information given during the interviews

         3       in February and the letter of the 25th is not a matter

         4       which is covered by the terms of reference.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   But that would track directly to the

         7       next question, if one reached that view, as to why there

         8       was such a misleading, and that seems to me to take you

         9       right back to the heart of this inquiry.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   That's why I say, sir, that it may be relevant

        12       to the question of the credit worthiness of the witness.

        13       It may also arise indirectly in the sense that it may be

        14       said that there was some form of concealment that was in

        15       place to prevent this information from percolating wherever

        16       it was appropriate that it percolate.  But it is the

        17       examination of this witness that I rise to address, and

        18       that is his role sitting there as a scribe, as it were,

        19       during these interviews, with the knowledge that he has

        20       about which he can't properly speak if the claim of legal

        21       professional privilege is made, and then attempting to use

        22       questions that are purportedly asked independent of that

        23       knowledge derived from Project Rose to put against what

        24       Mr Lindberg is saying.

        25

        26            Now, the first problem is that this witness says, "The

        27       only knowledge I had is derived from Project Rose".  The

        28       second problem is it tends to disclose the subject matter

        29       of Project Rose by reason of his having to answer

        30       questions, or being asked questions, about his knowledge of

        31       a particular fact at that time, because it is the only

        32       source of his knowledge.  But then to go on to say, "Well,

        33       you had this knowledge when Mr Lindberg made this answer",

        34       we say to whose credit does that go?  Is it meant to be an

        35       attack on this witness?

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think you may be premature.

        38       One could well understand that the examiner may want to ask

        39       the next question, "After the meeting, did you have a

        40       discussion with Mr Lindberg and tell him that everything he

        41       said in there was wrong?"

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   The problem is that in order to get to that

        44       stage you have to induce this witness to displace his

        45       obligation on legal professional privilege.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I don't think you do at all.  I
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         1       think we have gone past that.  The question has been very

         2       careful to limit it so as to exclude that source of

         3       knowledge but to inquire of him the particular facts.  All

         4       of that has gone past, I think.  We have the answers.

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   Well, I have raised the issue, sir.  It is our

         7       submission that it goes beyond the terms of reference, and

         8       I hear what you say about that.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius, is there anything you wish to

        11       say?

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Well, I am laying the groundwork to ask this

        14       witness about what transpired between himself and

        15       Mr Lindberg after this interview, and, importantly, before

        16       the letter of 25 October was written.  The events with

        17       which this evidence is concerned date from late 2000 and

        18       early 2001, and the AWB's knowledge of the imposition of a

        19       10 per cent fee, and what the AWB did about that from time

        20       to time.

        21

        22            Now, it may be - and I am not saying it is - that

        23       there was an attempt to cover up the fact of that

        24       knowledge.  If that were so, that may be evidence of

        25       consciousness of guilt or it may be evidence of a state of

        26       mind of persons which would be relevant to the question of

        27       whether or not an offence has been committed.  So this part

        28       of the inquiry is directed to finding out the circumstances

        29       in which the IIC was never informed about a matter which,

        30       on one view, could be a matter very relevant to determining

        31       whether or not an offence has been committed.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will allow the question.

        34

        35       MR CLELLAND:   Just before it is persisted with,

        36       Commissioner, can I say this, that the explanation just

        37       given fails to address the actual form of the original

        38       questions, which were directed to knowledge about kickbacks

        39       to the Iraqi regime, and seems to have been predicated on

        40       the basis that this witness had knowledge, and the witness

        41       has said that his knowledge comes via the investigation,

        42       but that he had knowledge that there had been such

        43       kickbacks paid to the Iraqi regime.  That is a different

        44       point, and if the witness is to be asked about that, it

        45       should be that specific issue, because that was the portion

        46       of the interview that he was being asked about which took

        47       place between the IIC investigator and Mr Lindberg.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Well, I have read the passage from the

         3       interview to Mr Cooper.  I have not summarised it.  I have

         4       read it precisely, as the question was put to Mr Lindberg,

         5       and precisely what his answer was, as corrected by this

         6       witness.  I don't see any unfairness in that.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will allow the question.

         9

        10       THE WITNESS:   Could I just say that I did not correct this

        11       statement.  I produced my verbatim handwritten notes of the

        12       interview.  By this stage we had expanded the team

        13       considerably.  We had been working on this, Chris Quennell

        14       and several of his staff.  Minter Ellison had come in and

        15       started helping us on this from 2004, the litigation

        16       partner and quite a few of his solicitors, when the Senate

        17       subcommittee review was on.  And then in February of 2005

        18       Andrew Lindberg said that he would like Arnold Bloch

        19       Leibler to come in and assist as well, and in particular

        20       the two partners.  So we had a lot of individual lawyers

        21       working on this particular matter.

        22

        23            When the Volcker investigators came out, it was an

        24       extremely busy period getting ready for their visit, and

        25       I attended this interview as a note taker.  There was a

        26       partner of Arnold Bloch Leibler in attendance, who was the

        27       person who was actually advising the company in relation to

        28       this matter.  When the Volcker investigators left, I was so

        29       busy with all of my other matters that I sent copies of my

        30       handwritten notes into Arnold Bloch Leibler, and they

        31       prepared all of the comments directly with the witnesses

        32       which were subsequently sent, under my name, to the IIC.

        33       But I did not actually settle any of the witness

        34       statements, and I relied - very much relied - on the work

        35       that was undertaken by Arnold Bloch Leibler which

        36       continued.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you not read them before you

        39       sent them off over your name?

        40       A.   I read - it was quite a long covering letter with the

        41       witness interviews, and I reviewed that last week preparing

        42       for this hearing.  And I recall very clearly reading that

        43       letter, because I put my signature on it, and I was asked

        44       to continue to be the author of letters to the IIC because

        45       I had started the communications with the general counsel

        46       there, Susan Ringler, and I was asked if I could continue

        47       the communications under my name, although basically
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         1       from February 2005 onwards I did not prepare the

         2       correspondence with the IIC.  I signed off on the letter in

         3       relation to these witness statements, but I did not sign

         4       off on the actual witness statements themselves, simply

         5       because I wasn't involved in settling them.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But you read the letter before you sent it

         8       off to Ms Ringler at the IIC?

         9       A.   I read the letter, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Didn't you read the corrected statements?

        12       A.   I did not read the corrected statements in detail,

        13       because --

        14

        15       Q.   Did you have any reason to doubt that the corrected

        16       statements were accurately corrected?

        17       A.   I had no reason to doubt that they weren't accurate.

        18

        19       Q.   So you were content to pass them off to the IIC on the

        20       basis that they were the best available record of what had

        21       been said by Mr Lindberg and the IIC investigators during

        22       the course of his interview and as with the other

        23       witnesses - the best available record of what had been said

        24       by Mr Long and Mr Flugge?

        25       A.   Yes, I was.

        26

        27       Q.   And you don't detract from that now, do you?

        28       A.   No, I don't.

        29

        30       Q.   Now, after you heard Mr Lindberg saying that he

        31       couldn't comment and that he had no knowledge of the issue,

        32       did you raise with him your knowledge of the imposition of

        33       a 10 per cent fee on the FIT value of the contract?

        34       A.   No, I did not.

        35

        36       Q.   Why not?

        37       A.   I don't know why I did not.  There could have been

        38       many reasons.  One reason is probably mainly because we

        39       were extremely busy during this period, and we finished the

        40       interview and moved straight on to the next issue with the

        41       IIC, and I relied on the work of the legal team, which by

        42       now, as I have described it, was very extensive, and they

        43       were all talking to each other and they all had access -

        44       the new lawyers who had joined the team through 2004 -

        45       these are the external lawyers - and then subsequently in

        46       early 2005, were given detailed briefings of all of the

        47       findings to date in the legal review.  I knew that had been
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         1       done, and I relied on the work that they did, because

         2       I simply did not have time to go down to the level of

         3       detail to be able to correct individual paragraphs in the

         4       letters.

         5

         6       Q.   Mr Cooper, as at the date of this interview,

         7       28 February 2005, you attended the interview as general

         8       counsel and secretary to the board; is that right?

         9       A.   That was my job title at the time.  I attended as a

        10       note taker and that was agreed.

        11

        12       Q.   Mr Cooper, you don't for a moment suggest that AWB

        13       couldn't find a stenographer or a note taker and had to

        14       resort to the use of general counsel and secretary of the

        15       board to attend an interview solely for the purpose of

        16       taking an accurate transcript of what was said, do you?

        17       A.   It was in planning for these interviews --

        18

        19       Q.   Is that what you suggest?

        20       A.   No I am not suggesting that.

        21

        22       Q.   So you were not just there as a note taker, were you?

        23       A.   No, I was not just there as a note taker.  I was there

        24       to provide continuity, because of the knowledge I had in

        25       this investigation.

        26

        27       Q.   And continuity in what way - to assist Mr Lindberg

        28       with that continuity?

        29       A.   Not necessarily.

        30

        31       Q.   Well, how was your presence to provide continuity to

        32       be of any use unless you used your knowledge to assist

        33       someone?

        34       A.   Well, I believe I did assist people by taking accurate

        35       notes of the subject matter.

        36

        37       Q.   But you weren't there just to be a note taker,

        38       Mr Cooper; we have dealt with that.  Someone on your

        39       salary, with your responsibility, wouldn't have been

        40       deployed to an interview simply and purely for the purpose

        41       of being a note taker.  What were you there to do?

        42       A.   I disagree with that statement.  I was - there was

        43       another external lawyer there at the interview who had

        44       been - who was actually advising - had prepared

        45       Andrew Lindberg for the interview and undertook all of the

        46       work following the interview, and I was - I remember it

        47       being discussed in the meetings within the company before



            .23/2/06 (33)              3309     J M COOPER (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       the interview took place that I would go along primarily to

         2       take notes.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Cooper, this troubles me.  You

         5       have told me how important this matter was, in the sense

         6       that you brought in three external firms of lawyers to

         7       assist.

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   You attended with Mr Lindberg an interview with the

        11       United Nations body.

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   You heard him say something which went to the very

        15       heart of what they were investigating --

        16       A.   Mmm.

        17

        18       Q.   -- and which, on the evidence as I understand what you

        19       have said, you knew was wrong.

        20

        21       MR CLELLAND:   With respect, that's just not right,

        22       Commissioner.  There is no evidence that this witness knew

        23       that it was incorrect for Mr Lindberg to say that he didn't

        24       know about moneys going to the Iraqi regime.  That is why

        25       I rose before.  That is the context of the question and

        26       Mr Lindberg's answer.  All this questioning is predicated

        27       on this witness having some understanding that that was an

        28       incorrect statement by Mr Lindberg.  It hasn't been

        29       established.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   I thought the witness agreed.

        32

        33       MR CLELLAND:   No.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   The transcript will show whether he has

        36       or hasn't.  That was my understanding.

        37

        38       THE WITNESS:   Commissioner, can I say, I - when I - I did

        39       not remark during that interview that that was an incorrect

        40       statement, because I thought - well, looking back at it

        41       now, I didn't remark when I came out of the interview

        42       thinking "Andrew said a few things in there that were

        43       incorrect".  I just did not remark on that.  I think what

        44       I would have taken away from the interview was that Andrew

        45       answered it to his knowledge, and I didn't remark that that

        46       was incorrect.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   You go on, Mr Agius.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Why didn't you say to him, "Look, it was

         4       put upon us to pay 10 per cent on top of the value of the

         5       contract" - not to correct him, but simply to give him that

         6       extra piece of knowledge, even if you accepted that he had

         7       been telling the truth.  Why not say, "Look, I know about

         8       this 10 per cent.  They are calling it a kickback, but we

         9       were asked to pay it"?  Why not draw that to the attention

        10       of your CEO?

        11       A.   I didn't draw it to his attention, but, looking back

        12       now, I would - my response is that I relied on the external

        13       lawyers who were assisting in the matter.  Mr Commissioner,

        14       I have to say, I personally did not appoint Arnold Block

        15       Leibler to the matter.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I am not suggesting that you did.

        18       A.   Andrew Lindberg appointed them.  I did appoint

        19       Chris Quennell and also the MinterEllison people.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You relied on other lawyers to deal with

        22       that, did you?

        23       A.   Yes, I did, because they were handling the great

        24       detail and substance of the company's response to the IIC.

        25

        26       Q.   You had sat through the interview and you had heard

        27       what had been said by both the investigators and the

        28       persons being interviewed - in this case, Mr Lindberg; is

        29       that right?

        30       A.   Yes, I did.

        31

        32       Q.   You had knowledge that AWB had been required to

        33       include in the price of a contract an extra 10 per cent

        34       figure - that's right?

        35       A.   Yes.  Yes, I did.

        36

        37       Q.   And you heard the investigator say that a

        38       director-general of a department in Iraq had said that no

        39       company had been exempt from paying a 10 per cent kickback

        40       to the government of Iraq.

        41

        42       MR CLELLAND:   That, with respect, is the sting.  That's

        43       the point.  It is quite different to talking about

        44       10 per cent being paid and 10 per cent being paid to the

        45       government of Iraq.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   And I think you have made that point, three or
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         1       four times.

         2

         3       MR CLELLAND:   Well, thank you.  Then why is the

         4       questioning being persisted with in this fashion?

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Because I'm trying to get an answer from your

         7       client and not from you.

         8

         9       Q.   You heard the investigator say that which I have just

        10       read to you?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Surely you drew a parallel between your knowledge of

        14       the 10 per cent that had been imposed on the AWB by the

        15       Iraqis and the 10 per cent that the Iraqi director-general

        16       had said had been imposed on all companies - that no

        17       company had been exempt from paying a 10 per cent kickback

        18       to the government of Iraq.  Surely you drew that parallel,

        19       Mr Cooper?

        20       A.   I didn't draw that parallel, and I can only say now

        21       that Mr Lindberg was asked whether he personally had

        22       knowledge of that issue, and also it was very - this whole

        23       matter is extremely technical in its nature, and there is

        24       potentially a chance that it's been oversimplified

        25       because - well, I can't go into the legal review, but there

        26       are questions about that knowledge of actual payments to

        27       the government of Iraq.  It is not necessarily the case

        28       that the company had that knowledge.

        29

        30       Q.   What is technical about the statement made by the

        31       director-general of a department in Iraq to the effect that

        32       no company had been exempt from paying a 10 per cent

        33       kickback to the government of Iraq?  What's technical about

        34       that?

        35       A.   Whether a payment was to the government of Iraq or

        36       whether it was to the inland trucking company Alia are two

        37       different things.

        38

        39       Q.   Mr Cooper, surely if someone had knowledge that a

        40       10 per cent payment had been required by the IGB and, with

        41       that knowledge, heard a question which included this

        42       statement that no company had been exempt from paying a

        43       10 per cent kickback to the government of Iraq, one would

        44       have drawn the parallel that perhaps the 10 per cent that

        45       the IGB were requiring to be paid was in fact this very

        46       same kickback.  Did you draw that parallel?

        47       A.   I didn't draw that parallel at the time.
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         1

         2       Q.   Mr Long has expressed considerable reservation about

         3       the accuracy of the red-lined statement that was sent from

         4       the AWB to the IIC.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius, can I just interrupt you, if

         7       you are going on to a different topic.  How long do you

         8       expect you will be with this witness?

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   I am not going to be able to finish this

        11       witness this afternoon, but I understand, from having

        12       spoken to my learned friend, that this witness would have

        13       particular difficulties if we were to keep him here

        14       overnight tonight.  I was proposing to take Mr Cooper a

        15       little further and then seek an adjournment until a later

        16       date.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  How long?  I am worried

        19       about the shorthand writers, who need a break.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   I am going to be some considerable time with

        22       Mr Cooper.  I am content to adjourn now and bring him back

        23       on another day.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think we should go on for a while.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Is this an appropriate time to take a short

        28       break?

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think so, yes.  I will adjourn for

        31       10 minutes.

        32

        33       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Cooper, I was asking you about the

        36       letter that went to Mr Alan Tracy, the president of US

        37       Wheat Associates, and I think you agreed that you had seen

        38       that letter on or about 12 June 2003.  Can you recall

        39       whether you drafted that letter?

        40       A.   Could I have the letter on the screen, please?

        41

        42       Q.   AWB.0214.0001.

        43       A.   There are two pages.

        44

        45       Q.   There are two pages.

        46       A.   Is it possible for me to have a paper copy?  It is

        47       just hard to see the whole thing.
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         1

         2       Q.   I will pass you mine.

         3       A.   Thank you.

         4

         5       Q.   Did you draft it?

         6       A.   I don't know for certain, but I don't - it would be

         7       unusual for me to draft a letter myself, but I probably had

         8       involvement in settling it along with our external lawyers.

         9

        10       Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0241.0019.  This

        11       appears to be an earlier draft of that letter.  It is dated

        12       11 June 2003, whereas the letter I passed you, exhibit 88,

        13       is dated 12 June.  It is on letterhead and it has a fax

        14       tracer line, which would indicate that in fact you have a

        15       copy of the letter that was sent to Mr Tracy.

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   The one on the screen appears as a draft, and if we

        19       could go to page 0021, could we come to the handwriting, is

        20       that your handwriting?

        21       A.   No, it is not.

        22

        23       Q.   Do you recognise it?

        24       A.   No, I don't recognise the handwriting.

        25

        26       Q.   It seems that that handwriting has been caught up in

        27       the typed version of the draft, if we go to page 0020.  Do

        28       you see the large paragraph there which has some

        29       struck-through words "AWB reiterates"?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   And do you see that what has been struck through in

        33       the third and fourth line is the following:

        34

        35            ...and, similarly, all payments made under

        36            those contracts were paid strictly in

        37            accordance with the provisions of the

        38            oil-for-food Security Council resolutions.

        39

        40       Do you see that that has been struck through?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   And do you see that it doesn't appear in the version

        44       of the letters which is signed by Mr Lindberg and dated

        45       12 June 2003?

        46       A.   Yes, I see that.

        47
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         1       Q.   Do you know anything of the circumstances in which

         2       those words were taken out of the draft, "similarly all

         3       payments made under those contracts were paid strictly in

         4       accordance with the provisions of the oil-for-food Security

         5       Council resolutions"?

         6       A.   I don't know the specifics of why that was taken out.

         7

         8       Q.   Was that taken out because there was an acknowledgment

         9       within AWB that not all payments made under those contracts

        10       had been made strictly in accordance with the provisions of

        11       the oil-for-food Security Council resolutions?

        12       A.   I just don't know the answer as to why it was taken

        13       out.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Commissioner, I tender that document.  It is of

        16       three pages - AWB.0241.0019 through to 0021.

        17

        18       EXHIBIT #419 DRAFT LETTER TO MR ALAN TRACY, THE PRESIDENT

        19       OF US WHEAT ASSOCIATES, 11/6/2003,

        20       BARCODED AWB.0241.0019-0021

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0026.0024.

        23       This is a copy of the letter that was sent to Mr Volcker of

        24       25 October 2005.  Did you play any role in the drafting or

        25       settling of that letter before it was signed and sent off?

        26       A.   No, I don't believe I played any role in drafting that

        27       letter.

        28

        29       Q.   Or settling it?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you see it before it was sent out?

        33       A.   I can't recall whether I actually saw it.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you see a draft of it?

        36       A.   I would have to check my records.  For some reason,

        37       I have a feeling that I was working on something else.

        38       I wasn't - I just wasn't very involved in the preparation

        39       of this final letter.

        40

        41       Q.   Did you see it shortly after it went out?

        42       A.   Yes, I did see it after it went out, yes.

        43

        44       Q.   Shortly after it went out, or years later?

        45       A.   No, this is just --

        46

        47       Q.   Sorry, not years later, months later?
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         1       A.   No, no, I saw it shortly after it went out.

         2

         3       Q.   In what circumstances, Mr Cooper?

         4       A.   It was, from memory, sent as an open letter to the

         5       Volcker Inquiry, to Paul Volcker, and I believe it was

         6       actually attached to the report.

         7

         8       Q.   Yes.  That's why --

         9       A.   And I believe that was the context in which I saw it,

        10       because - when the report came out I read the report at the

        11       time.

        12

        13       Q.   So you saw it reproduced in the final report?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   But not before then?

        17       A.   I can't say for certain whether I saw it before then,

        18       but I think it was only - was it only a few days in between

        19       it being sent and the report?  Could somebody just tab up

        20       to the top of the document?

        21

        22       Q.   It is dated 25 October 2005.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   The report was published on the 27th.

        25

        26       THE WITNESS:   Yes.  So I am sorry, I can't recall whether

        27       I saw it just in that two days in between - it is possible

        28       that I did see it.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we go to page 0237, page 4 of the

        31       letter.  The second and third lines say:

        32

        33            No-one ever suggested to AWB that the

        34            trucking costs included "after sales

        35            service fees"...

        36

        37       A.   Excuse me, whereabouts?

        38

        39       Q.   Have you found it?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   The second and third line:

        43

        44             ...and AWB never paid fees characterised

        45            in that way.

        46

        47       Now, clearly, by 25 October 2005, you knew that the IGB had
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         1       required the AWB to pay a 10 per cent service fee which was

         2       to be included in the trucking costs?

         3       A.   The trucking cost which was paid to Alia?

         4

         5       Q.   Yes.

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   So that sentence was inconsistent with your knowledge?

         9       A.   No, I don't believe it was.  The term "aftersales

        10       service fee" was not a term that was known at all

        11       internally within AWB on the team that was investigating

        12       this particular matter - not to my knowledge - and it was,

        13       to me, new information, that term.

        14

        15       Q.   Exhibit 381, which was the February 2001 trip report

        16       of Messrs Hogan and Borlase, which is headed in this

        17       relevant portion "Trucking Fee/Services Fee" records as

        18       follow:

        19

        20            The trucking fee is now USD25.00 pmt all

        21            governorates of Iraq with a 10% service fee

        22            on the entire FIT value of the contract.

        23            We believe the increase in trucking fee and

        24            the addition of the service charge is a

        25            mechanism for extracting more dollars from

        26            the escrow account.

        27

        28       Isn't that inconsistent with "no-one ever suggested to the

        29       AWB that the trucking costs included aftersales service

        30       fees"?

        31       A.   I agree that's inconsistent.  It is just that I had

        32       not seen that trip report and was not aware of that

        33       terminology.

        34

        35       Q.   So the existence of this trip report of February 2001

        36       had not been brought to your attention as at 25 October

        37       2005?

        38       A.   Not to my personal attention, no.

        39

        40       Q.   Do you know whether or not it had been brought to the

        41       attention of Mr Quennell and his team?

        42       A.   I don't know here and now whether it was brought to

        43       their attention.  It may well have been.

        44

        45       Q.   When you say "it may well have been", do you mean it

        46       was, it wasn't, or you don't know?

        47       A.   I don't know, but I presume, given his - given the
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         1       scope of his inquiry, there is a possibility he did have

         2       that document or someone else in the team had reviewed it.

         3

         4       Q.   Well, you would hope that he had it, wouldn't you?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   If he had it, I don't suppose you could explain how it

         8       is that this letter that was sent on 25 October 2005 could

         9       be sent in that form?

        10       A.   No, I couldn't explain that.

        11

        12       Q.   And in terms of things that Mr Quennell may have had,

        13       could we bring up, please, confidential exhibit 126C, which

        14       is at AWB.0264.0001.  This is a market brief Iraq, dated as

        15       best we can as at 20 August 2001.  It is 26 pages in

        16       length, and if we go to page 0010, you will see at the top

        17       of the page:

        18

        19            Contracts are concluded with the IGB on a

        20            Free in Truck Basis, delivered to all

        21            governorates of Iraq.  The Inland Transport

        22            fees (and all discharge fees) are included

        23            in the inland transport fee.  Inland

        24            Transport fees are paid via Alia Transport

        25            Company in Jordan, who then pay the

        26            Ministry of Transport in Iraq.  These fees

        27            are approved by the UN.

        28

        29       Do you know whether Mr Quennell had access to this

        30       document?

        31       A.   I don't know that.

        32

        33       Q.   If one assumes this was on an electronic database at

        34       the AWB, which is the substance of the evidence that we

        35       have had so far in relation to these market briefs, is it

        36       your expectation that he would have had access to it?

        37       A.   It is - I'm not certain whether he has access to it,

        38       because I have primarily in my mind that he reviewed

        39       emails, which were exchanged between people, but when this

        40       issue came up in the hearing and I investigated it

        41       recently, last week, I understand this comes from a

        42       database in which a person must go into the database and

        43       access the information, rather than it being pushed out to

        44       people, like emails are, and it is possible that he might

        45       not have seen this document, because a search of databases

        46       might not have been done.  I just - I personally just don't

        47       know whether the databases were searched, whereas I do know
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         1       that the email records were searched.

         2

         3       Q.   You don't know whether he saw this document or not?

         4       A.   No.

         5

         6       Q.   There are later versions of this document on the

         7       system, two of which we have, which include the same

         8       paragraph.  I take it your evidence in relation to those

         9       documents would be the same - you don't know whether he saw

        10       those documents or not?

        11       A.   Yes.  I don't know, because - and also, I personally

        12       haven't seen these documents before.

        13

        14       Q.   Could we bring up exhibit 9, please, which is an email

        15       from Mr Hogan to Messrs Emons, Borlase and Owen -

        16       AWB.5035.0337.  Is that an email to which Mr Quennell would

        17       have had access, Mr Cooper?

        18       A.   Yes, I believe he would have had access to that,

        19       taking into account its date and the people, because that's

        20       the date range that we searched and the people that we

        21       searched, so I believe he would have seen that.

        22

        23       Q.   Is that an email that you've seen before?

        24       A.   Yes, I have.

        25

        26       Q.   When did you first see that email?

        27       A.   I believe I would have seen it some time in May 2004,

        28       or thereafter, as part of the legal review.

        29

        30       Q.   Rather than take you through a whole host of emails,

        31       Mr Cooper, would it be your evidence, if I showed you a

        32       series of emails in June, July and later in 1999, that

        33       Mr Quennell would, in your expectation, have had access to

        34       those emails?

        35       A.   Yes - yes, it would be.

        36

        37       Q.   When you saw that email some time in May 2004 or

        38       thereafter, did you cause any inquiry to be made in

        39       relation to it?

        40       A.   The inquiry was already being made, the internal

        41       inquiry.

        42

        43       Q.   What did you make of Mr Hogan's reference at the end

        44       of that email:

        45

        46            (other option is to use Maritime

        47            agents/vessel owners account/or buy a very
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         1            large suitcase).

         2

         3       A.   I didn't like it, I was disappointed, and it was

         4       specifically, as a result, included in materials that were

         5       reviewed by senior counsel.

         6

         7       Q.   When you say you didn't like it, what didn't you like

         8       about it?

         9       A.   I didn't like the flippant tone of the last sentence,

        10       to buy a very large suitcase.

        11

        12       Q.   What about looking beyond that - did it not indicate

        13       to you that there were at least four people within AWB

        14       in October of 1999 discussing methods to circumvent the UN

        15       sanctions?

        16       A.   It - yes, it indicated a consideration of how to get

        17       around the UN sanctions.

        18

        19       Q.   Did you advise Mr Lindberg in May 2004 of the

        20       existence of this email and of its indication of a

        21       consideration of how to get around UN sanctions?

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   If he did, Commissioner, he can't disclose that,

        24       given that he has said, after acknowledging he saw it, that

        25       it was derived from the legal review.  In those

        26       circumstances, it would seem that --

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I took the word "advise" to mean draw

        29       to his attention.  I didn't understand it to mean legal

        30       advice.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   Then, yes, I withdraw the objection in those

        33       circumstances.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you draw the existence of the email to

        36       Mr Lindberg's attention?

        37       A.   Both myself and Chris Quennell, as part of that

        38       review, went through the results of that review with

        39       Mr Lindberg.

        40

        41       Q.   I don't want to know about that.  I am just asking you

        42       in relation to one specific matter - that is, this email:

        43       did you draw the existence of this email to Mr Lindberg's

        44       attention?  You see, we are not allowed to know any advice

        45       that you and Mr Quennell gave Mr Lindberg as a result of

        46       the review.

        47       A.   Mmm.  Yes, I believe I did, together with Mr Quennell.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did you give Mr Lindberg a copy of it?

         3       A.   I don't believe he would have retained a copy, but

         4       I believe he was shown the email.

         5

         6       Q.   Did you show him, in that connection, other emails

         7       from 1999?

         8       A.   There were - yes, there was a collection of documents

         9       that Chris Quennell had prepared, which he had used to

        10       brief senior counsel, and this was one of those documents.

        11       They were explained - these documents were discussed

        12       internally.

        13

        14       Q.   So there were other emails from 1999 that were shown

        15       to Mr Lindberg some time in or after May of 2004?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Were they also emails that indicated to you that

        19       employees of AWB were having discussions as to how they

        20       might circumvent UN sanctions?

        21       A.   It is very difficult for me to summarise those

        22       documents, because I was the recipient of the report into

        23       what had been located.

        24

        25       Q.   I am only asking you about emails that you showed

        26       Mr Lindberg, not about the report.

        27       A.   I personally didn't show them to him.  It was

        28       actually - they were collected together by Quennell.

        29

        30       Q.   Well, were you present when Mr Lindberg saw other

        31       emails from 1999?

        32       A.   I can't remember the exact dates, but there was a

        33       number of occasions where documents from that period, which

        34       were very pertinent to the subject matter, were

        35       collectively reviewed with Andrew Lindberg.

        36

        37       Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.5056.0374.  This is an

        38       email from Mark Emons to Nigel Officer, copied to Messrs

        39       Watson, Lister and Owen, 20 October 1999, marked "Private

        40       and Confidential:  Iraq trucking fee".  Was that email

        41       shown to Mr Lindberg in May of 2004 or thereafter?

        42       A.   I don't know specifically whether that document was

        43       shown to Mr Lindberg.  I remember - the previous email you

        44       showed me is remarkable because of the suitcase, and

        45       I didn't like that email, and it is the sort of email that

        46       does stick in your mind, but I expect, on the basis of what

        47       I told you before in terms of the date range and the people
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         1       listed in the email, that this would have been certainly

         2       reviewed by Quennell, but I don't know the extent to which

         3       Andrew Lindberg was taken through line by line each of

         4       these documents.

         5

         6       Q.   Could we bring up MAE.0001.0015.  We need to go to

         7       0016 and then work backwards.  There are three emails in

         8       this compilation, commencing with one from Mark Emons of

         9       20 October 1999 to Mr Officer, which is the one that you

        10       have just seen.

        11       A.   Mmm.

        12

        13       Q.   Then there is an email from Graham Owen to Mr Emons,

        14       Mr Officer and others, of 20 October 1999 at 14:12 hours.

        15       A.   Could you just go up to --

        16

        17       Q.   If we go to the first page, you will see at the

        18       bottom of the page --

        19       A.   Excuse me, would it be possible to have a paper copy

        20       please?

        21

        22       Q.   I don't have one at the moment.  Would you just look

        23       at the bottom email on this page from Graham Owen to

        24       Mark Emons.  This is on page MAE.0001.0015.

        25       A.   Could we go down the page, please.  Down to the

        26       bottom.  I am having trouble, if you can assist.  Thank

        27       you.  I believe that this was reviewed by Quennell.  It

        28       looks familiar to me, but I can't say with certainty,

        29       without going back to his records, but it does look like a

        30       document that was included in the review, although I don't

        31       think that this would have been one that would have been

        32       shown to Lindberg in detail.

        33

        34       Q.   Why do you say that?

        35       A.   I just don't think that he would have requested that

        36       level of detailed review, because there were potentially in

        37       this - piecing together all of these contracts and all of

        38       the correspondence, there were potentially many, many

        39       documents.

        40

        41       Q.   These emails were crucial, weren't they, Mr Cooper,

        42       because they relate to the period when the mechanism for

        43       the payment of the trucking fee was actually being put

        44       together by AWB personnel?

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   And so they would have been a particular focus of your
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         1       attention, would they not?

         2       A.   They were - the reason I think I can remember it is

         3       that they were the focus of the report, one of the reports

         4       of the findings, yes.

         5

         6       Q.   I don't want you to go into the report of the

         7       findings.  I am being particularly careful with my

         8       questions.  I am speaking about your attention.  Do they

         9       not evidence discussions by AWB employees as to methods of

        10       circumventing the UN sanctions?

        11       A.   Well, I think, when I re-read this, I thought

        12       Graham Owen's comments were reasonably good - they were

        13       sensible suggestions and he was pushing back on proposals

        14       being put by Mark Emons.

        15

        16       Q.   Yes.

        17       A.   So I agree they are very pertinent to the issue that

        18       was being reviewed.  I don't disagree with that at all.

        19

        20       Q.   I can't complete your examination today, Mr Cooper.

        21       There are just one or two matters I wanted to ask you about

        22       before we adjourn that you do refer to in your statement.

        23       One concerns the Arthur Andersen report.  In your

        24       supplementary statement, at paragraphs 3 to 5, you speak of

        25       Arthur Andersen reports.  Have you read Mr Stott's

        26       evidence?

        27       A.   Yes, I have.

        28

        29       Q.   You then would have seen - and I don't propose to

        30       quote him verbatim, nor do I purport to do that - the

        31       substance of his evidence concerning how it came about that

        32       he obtained from you a copy of an Arthur Andersen report

        33       dated October 2000?

        34       A.   Well, he didn't obtain a report dated October 2000.

        35       He obtained a later report.

        36

        37       Q.   Let's not debate what his evidence was.  Did you

        38       provide him with a copy of an Arthur Andersen report?

        39       A.   Yes, I did.

        40

        41       Q.   Which was the report that you gave him a copy of?

        42       A.   Which was the report?

        43

        44       Q.   Yes, which report was it?  There are a number of

        45       Arthur Andersen reports.  You refer to one in your

        46       statement at paragraph 5.  Which one did you give Mr Stott

        47       a copy of?
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         1       A.   I gave him a copy of what I understood to be the final

         2       report, which is the one mentioned in paragraph 3 of my

         3       report.

         4

         5       Q.   That is the report dated December 2000?

         6       A.   Actually, I haven't got a copy of it here, but it is

         7       the final version of that report that was submitted to AWB.

         8

         9       Q.   I am trying to identify with some precision exactly

        10       what it was that you gave Mr Stott.  Could we bring up,

        11       please, confidential exhibit 69C, which is AWB.0182.0106.

        12       I will give you a hard copy of it.  Is that a copy of the

        13       report that you gave Mr Stott?

        14       A.   I think also this report has attachments?

        15

        16       Q.   Yes, there are --

        17       A.   You don't have to show them to me, but there are a

        18       number of appendices.

        19

        20       Q.   I will show you a copy of the appendices, which run

        21       from AWB.0182.0144 through to 0200 and then AWB.0182.0096

        22       through to 0104.

        23       A.   Yes, that's - I believe this is the final report that

        24       was issued to the company, which I had in my possession.

        25

        26       Q.   So you gave Mr Stott a copy of that?

        27       A.   Yes, I did.

        28

        29       Q.   With the appendices?

        30       A.   I can't recall whether the appendices were attached.

        31

        32       Q.   When did you give him a copy of that report?

        33       A.   It must have been some time before the Volcker people

        34       came to Melbourne for their investigation, because when the

        35       Volcker people came to Melbourne, I handed the original

        36       copy of the report to Arnold Bloch Leibler, who were

        37       assisting the company at that stage, and they retained the

        38       final copy of the report from some date in the middle

        39       of February, so - and I didn't have a copy of it, so it

        40       must have been some time before that.

        41

        42       Q.   Some time before about the middle of February 2005?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   How long before then did you give Mr Stott a copy of

        46       the report - within weeks or months of that day?

        47       A.   It was only a matter of one or two months before that,
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         1       but I can't remember the exact date when I provided it to

         2       him.

         3

         4       Q.   Do you remember the circumstances in which you came to

         5       give him a copy?

         6       A.   Yes, I do.  He came and asked me for a copy of it.

         7

         8       Q.   Did he tell you why he wanted it?

         9       A.   He said he wanted to review the issues in it.

        10       I presumed that was because the Volcker Inquiry had been

        11       announced.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you ever ask him for that copy back or did you

        14       ever ask him to destroy that copy?

        15       A.   No, I asked him to be careful with the copy and not to

        16       show it to anybody, but I very much disagree with his

        17       evidence that I asked him to destroy it.  I did not ask him

        18       to destroy it.

        19

        20       Q.   You say you asked him to be careful with it and not to

        21       show it to anybody.  Did you ask him that at the time you

        22       gave him the copy?

        23       A.   I told him at the time I gave him the copy, and then

        24       several weeks later again, when he must have been

        25       discussing it with me, I told him that he was not to

        26       discuss it with anyone in the company because in particular

        27       it involved employees of the company who were named in the

        28       report.

        29

        30       Q.   But you never told him to destroy it?

        31       A.   I never told him to destroy it.

        32

        33       Q.   Did you ask him for it back?

        34       A.   No, I did not ask for it back.

        35

        36       Q.   Did you ever ask him for it back?

        37       A.   No.

        38

        39       Q.   Until you read or heard his evidence, which was to the

        40       effect that he had destroyed it, were you aware that it had

        41       been destroyed?

        42       A.   No.  No, I was not aware.

        43

        44       Q.   Relating this to your statement, you say:

        45

        46            I am confident that I was not shown the

        47            integrity risk review of the international
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         1            marketing group report at the time of its

         2            receipt.

         3

         4       Is that the document that I am showing you that you are

         5       referring to there - confidential exhibit 69C?

         6       A.   Yes, it is.

         7

         8       Q.   You did not see it until some time, what, shortly

         9       prior to June 2003?

        10       A.   No, it was - I can't recall exactly when.  I was shown

        11       a copy of the report earlier to June 2003, but not shortly

        12       before.  I can't - I have searched all of my materials to

        13       try to identify when I was shown it, but I was shown a copy

        14       of it as is described in my statement by Richard Fuller,

        15       and I was allowed to read the document, but I wasn't

        16       allowed to retain a copy of it.

        17

        18       Q.   Why were you shown it by Mr Fuller?

        19       A.   What I recall clearly is those parts of the report

        20       that talk about personnel and - sorry, former staff, and,

        21       in particular, the red flags that the investigator uses as

        22       a term to describe suspicions about their behaviour.

        23       I believe that I was shown the report because it probably

        24       had relevance for matters that I was handling generally for

        25       the company.

        26

        27       Q.   You didn't retain it then?

        28       A.   No, I was told that I - Richard Fuller said that it

        29       was not appropriate that I retain a copy.

        30

        31       Q.   When did you obtain the document which you copied so

        32       that you could give a copy to Mr Stott?

        33       A.   Richard Fuller gave it to me after the commencement of

        34       the - of what we were calling the Project Rose inquiry.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Gave you the original?

        37       A.   He gave me the original, yes, and he had kept the

        38       original until that time.  He gave me the original and

        39       said, "You had better have this now, given this inquiry is

        40       started."  And I retained the original from then until

        41       I handed it over to Arnold Bloch Leibler in February of

        42       2005.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   During that time did you show it to

        45       anybody other than Mr Stott?

        46       A.   Yes.  I showed it to Chris Quennell.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you show it to any AWB employee, aside from

         2       Mr Stott, during that time?

         3       A.   No, I did not.

         4

         5       Q.   And did you show it to Mr Lindberg during that time?

         6       A.   No.

         7

         8       Q.   Do you know whether a copy of that report - that's the

         9       one dated December 2000 - ever found its way to the board?

        10       A.   I'm not aware of whether it went to the board.

        11

        12       Q.   Do you know whether the existence of that report

        13       dated December 2000 was ever indicated to the board?

        14       A.   No, I'm not aware of that.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time, Mr Commissioner?

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   It is likely that we will need Mr Cooper back.

        21       At this stage I can't nominate a date.  I might do that in

        22       due course in consultation with those with authorisation to

        23       appear for him.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  I will adjourn your

        26       examination to a date to be fixed, Mr Cooper, thank you.

        27

        28       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will adjourn until 10am.

        31

        32       AT 5.15PM THE HEARING WAS ADJOURNED

        33       TO FRIDAY, 24 FEBRUARY 2006 AT 10AM

        34

        35

        36

        37

        38

        39

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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